
   



   

UNITED STATES  
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  

Washington, D.C. 20549  

FORM 8-K/A  

CURRENT REPORT  
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d)  

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): December 21, 2007 (October 15, 2007)  

TREEHOUSE FOODS, INC.  
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)  

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: ( 708) 483-1300  

Not Applicable  
(Former name or former address, if changed since last report)  

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of 
the following provisions:  

   

  

  

          
Delaware  

(State or other jurisdiction  
of incorporation)   

001-32504  
(Commission file number) 

  

20-2311383  
( I.R.S. employer  
identification no.) 

          
Two Westbrook Corporate Center  

Suite 1070  
Westchester, IL  

(Address of principal executive offices)   

  

  

60154  
(Zip Code) 

�   Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425) 

�   Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12) 

�   Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b)) 

�   Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c)) 
  

  



   

This Current Report on Form 8-K/A amends and supplements the Current Report on Form 8-K of TreeHouse Foods, Inc., filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on October 15, 2007 (the “Form 8-K”), which reported under Item 2.01 the acquisition of all of the 
operating assets of E.D. Smith Income Fund (the “Fund”), including all of the outstanding equity interests in E.D. Smith & Sons, GP, Ltd., 
E.D. Smith & Sons, LP and E.D. Smith & Sons, Limited pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement with E.D. Smith Operating Trust, E.D. 
Smith Limited Partnership and the Fund dated June 24, 2007. This amendment is filed to provide the financial statements and the pro forma 
financial information required by Item 9.01, and unless set forth below, all previous Items of the Form 8-K are unchanged.  

ITEM 2.01 Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets  

On October 15, 2007 TreeHouse Foods, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“TreeHouse”), announced that it acquired all of the operating assets of 
the E.D. Smith Income Fund (“ED Smith”), and related liabilities.  

TreeHouse paid an aggregate cash purchase price of approximately $340 million for ED Smith, at October 15, 2007, based on the exchange 
rate of $1.01963 U.S. Dollars for each Canadian dollar at October 10, 2007 (the date TreeHouse purchased Canadian dollars to complete the 
purchase), including the payment of existing debt and transaction expenses. The transaction was financed through borrowings under 
TreeHouse’s existing $600 million credit facility.  

E.D. Smith’s assets include manufacturing facilities in Northeast, Pennsylvania, Seaforth, Ontario, Winona, Ontario and manufacturing assets 
located at a facility in Cambridge, Ontario, which is currently leased on a short term basis.  

   

ITEM 9.01   Financial Statements and Exhibits 

(a)   Financial statements of businesses acquired. 
  

    The following financial statements of ED Smith are being filed with this report as Exhibit 99.2: 

  •   Audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 and for the period June 3, 2005 to 
December 31, 2005; 

  

  •   Unaudited consolidated financial statements for the three and six-month interim periods ended June 30, 2007 and June 30, 2006 

(b)   Pro forma financial information. 
  

    The following pro forma financial information is being filed with this report as Exhibit 99.3: 

  •   Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2007; 
  

  •   Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Income for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and for the six 
months ended June 30, 2007; 

  

  •   Notes to unaudited pro forma Condensed Combined financial statements 

(c)   Exhibits 



   

SIGNATURES  

          Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report on Form 8-K/A to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

   

          
Exhibit   Description 
           

  23.1     Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors  
           

  99.1   

  

Press Release, dated October 15, 2007, announcing the closing of the transactions contemplated by that certain Purchase and 
Sale Agreement, dated June 24, 2007, between E.D. Smith Operating Trust, E.D. Smith Limited Partnership, E.D. Smith 
Income Fund, 0795167 B.C. Ltd., and TreeHouse Foods, Inc. (previously filed as part of this Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed on October 15, 2007).  

           

  99.2     Financial Statements listed in Item 9.0 1(a)  
           

      
  

•    E.D. Smith Income Fund Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 and for the 
period June 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005  

           

      
  

•    E.D. Smith Income Fund Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and six-month interim periods ended June 30, 
2007 and June 30, 2006  

           

  99.3     Pro Forma Financial Information listed in Item 9.01(b)  
           

        •    Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2007  
           

        •    Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Income Statement for the year ended December 31, 2006  
           

        •    Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Income Statement for the six-month period ended June 30, 2007  

          
  TreeHouse Foods, Inc.  

    

  By:   /s/ Dennis F. Riordan     
    Name:   Dennis F. Riordan    

Date: December 21, 2007    
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
authorized to sign on behalf of the registrant    
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Exhibit 23.1 

Consent of Independent Auditors  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-126161) pertaining to the 2005 Long-Term 
Stock Incentive Plan of TreeHouse Foods, Inc. of our report dated March 2, 2007 (except as to note 22, which is dated December 21, 2007), 
with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of E.D. Smith Income Fund as at December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the consolidated statements 
of earnings and deficit and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2006 and for the period June 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005 included in 
the Current Report on Form 8-K/A of TreeHouse Foods, Inc. dated December 21, 2007.  

   

      
Toronto, Canada    /s/ Ernst & Young, LLP 
December 21, 2007    Chartered Accountants 
    Licensed Public Accountants 



   



   

EXHIBIT 99.2 

E.D. SMITH INCOME FUND  

Consolidated Financial Statements  

December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005  

(With Report of Independent Auditors Thereon)  

   



   

Report of Independent Auditors  

To the Board of Directors of  
TreeHouse Foods, Inc.  

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of E.D. Smith Income Fund as at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated 
statements of earnings and deficit and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2006 and for the period from June 3, 2005 to December 31, 
2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Fund’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Fund’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over 
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Fund 
at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2006 and the period from 
June 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  
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Toronto, Canada    /s/ Ernst & Young, LLP 
March 2, 2007    Chartered Accountants 
[except for note 22, which is    Licensed Public Accountants 
as of December 21, 2007].      



   

E. D. SMITH INCOME FUND  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(stated in thousands of dollars )  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements  
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    As at     As at   
    December 31, 2006     December 31, 2005   
    $     $   
ASSETS                  
Current assets                  
Cash and cash equivalents      1,334       2,066   
Accounts receivable — trade (note 17)      23,718       17,440   
Inventories (note 4)      42,872       24,572   
Prepaid expenses      1,133       650   
Income taxes recoverable      339       2,437   
Future income taxes      976       535   

  

Total current assets      70,372       47,700   
                   
Capital assets, net (note 5)      50,754       34,915   
Deferred costs, net (note 6)      954       496   
Intangible assets (note 7)      96,681       48,437   
Goodwill (notes 1 and 3)      85,875       58,805   

  

       304,636       190,353   
  

                   
LIABILITIES AND UNITHOLDERS ’ EQUITY                  
Current liabilities                  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      22,293       17,861   
Purchase price payable (note 3)      18,494       —  
Distributions payable to unitholders (note 11)      1,073       1,179   
Distributions payable to exchangeable LP unitholders (note 11)      115       37   

  

Total current liabilities      41,975       19,077   
                   
Bank credit facility (note 8)      75,466       36,717   
Future income taxes      11,079       16,207   

  

Total liabilities      128,520       72,001   
  

Non-controlling interest (notes 9 and 10)      17,101       3,851   
  

Commitments and contingency (note 18)                  
Unitholders’  equity                  
Trust units issued (note 9)      178,580       121,047   
Deficit      (16,993 )     (4,173 ) 
Cumulative translation adjustment (note 14)      (2,572 )     (2,373 ) 

  

Total unitholders’  equity      159,015       114,501   
  

       304,636       190,353   
  

          
   

      
On behalf of the Board:   R. J. Nobes   Jack H. Scott 

  



   

E. D. SMITH INCOME FUND  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS AND DEFICIT  

(stated in thousands of dollars except per unit and unit amounts)  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements  
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    Year ended     June 3 to   
    December 31,     December 31,   
    2006     2005   

  

    $     $   
Revenue      245,351       109,642   

  

Direct margin      47,152       17,809   
Selling, general and administrative costs      24,447       9,611   

Restructuring costs (note 12)      3,991       —  
  

     
  
    

  
  

Earnings before interest, income taxes, amortization, non- controlling interest, and dilution gain      18,714       8,198   
Amortization of capital assets, intangibles and deferred costs      14,860       5,120   
Interest      4,283       1,237   

  

Earnings (loss) before income taxes, non-controlling interest, and dilution gain      (429 )     1,841   
  

Income tax provision (note 19)                  
Current      323       (2,178 ) 
Future      (3,442 )     (55 ) 

  

       (3,119 )     (2,233 ) 
  

Earnings before non-controlling interest, and dilution gain      2,690       4,074   
                   

Non-controlling interest (note 10)      167       150   
Dilution gain (note 10)      2,786       —  

  

Net earnings for the period      5,309       3,924   
Deficit, beginning of period      (4,173 )     —  

Distributions declared to unitholders (note 11)      18,129       8,097   
  

Deficit, end of period      (16,993 )     (4,173 ) 
  

Earnings per unit — basic    $ 0.30     $ 0.29   
  

Earnings per unit — diluted    $ 0.28     $ 0.29   
  

                   
Weighted average number of units outstanding — basic      17,973,567       13,342,489   

  

Weighted average number of units outstanding — diluted      19,439,380       13,973,560   
  



   

E. D. SMITH INCOME FUND  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

(stated in thousands of dollars)  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements  
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    Year Ended     June 3 to   
    December 31,     December 31,   
    2006     2005   

  
  

  

    $         
OPERATING ACTIVITIES                  
Net earnings for the period      5,309       3,924   
Add (deduct) items not involving cash                  

Non-controlling interest      167       150   
Dilution gain (note 10)      (2,786 )     —  
Amortization      14,860       5,120   
Exchange gain on settlement of debt      (626 )     —  
Future income taxes      (3,442 )     (55 ) 

  
      

  

       13,482       9,139   
Net change in non-cash operating working capital balances (note 15)      (1,531 )     (3,705 ) 

  
      

  

Cash provided by operating activities      11,951       5,434   
  
      

  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES                  
Business acquisitions and acquisition costs (notes 1and 3)      (81,644 )     (69,423 ) 
Purchase of capital assets      (3,959 )     (2,195 ) 
Increase in deferred costs      (1,378 )     (406 ) 

  
      

  

Cash used in investing activities      (86,981 )     (72,024 ) 
  
      

  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES                  
Issuance of trust units (notes 1 and 9)      60,000       110,500   
Issuance of over-allotment units (notes 1, 9 and 10)      —      16,575   
Expenses related to issuance of trust and exchangeable LP units      (4,595 )     (11,624 ) 
Redemption of units from previous unitholders (notes 1, 9 and 10)      —      (15,579 ) 
Increase in bank credit facility      38,798       32,739   
Payments to previous shareholder      —      (4,000 ) 
Payments on bank term loan      —      (52,733 ) 
Distributions to unitholders      (18,235 )     (6,918 ) 
Distributions to exchangeable LP unitholders      (1,362 )     (298 ) 

  
      

  

Cash provided by financing activities      74,606       68,662   
  
      

  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents      (308 )     (6 ) 
  
      

  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the period      (732 )     2,066   
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period      2,066       —  

  
      

  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period      1,334       2,066   
  
      

  

                   
Supplemental cash flow information                  
Interest paid      4,898       1,105   
Income taxes paid      42       60   
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1.   Formation of the Fund and the Acquisition 
  

E.   D. Smith Income Fund (the “Fund”) is an open-ended, limited purpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario by a 
Declaration of Trust dated April 29, 2005. The Fund was created to acquire and hold, indirectly through E.D. Smith Operating Trust (the 
“Trust”), limited partnership units of E.D. Smith Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”), which, in turn, has been formed to acquire all of 
the outstanding securities of EDS Holdings Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “EDS Holdings Inc.”). The Fund remained inactive until 
June 3, 2005 when the Fund completed an initial public offering of 11,050,000 trust units of the Fund (the “Units”) at a price of $10 per 
unit, realizing gross proceeds of $110,500. The cost of issuing units was $10,628 resulting in net proceeds of $99,872. 

  

    The Partnership purchased 87.85% of the shares of EDS Holdings Inc. for consideration totaling $81,677. The consideration consisted of 
$69,423 in cash payment for purchase notes held by former shareholders, $3,837 for employee Units (net of deferred compensation of 
$2,703), and $8,417 for the Units issued to former shareholders. 

  

    In addition, the Partnership issued 1,698,187 Exchangeable LP Units in exchange for the remaining 12.15% of the outstanding shares of 
EDS Holdings Inc. and are reflected in non-controlling interest. Unit issuance costs of $723 (net of a future income tax recovery of $517) 
were incurred on the initial issuance of the Exchangeable LP Units. 

  

    Unit issuance costs of $5,355 (net of a future income tax recovery of $4,055) were incurred on the initial issuance of the Fund Units. Unit 
issuance costs of $580 (net of a future income tax recovery of $416) were incurred for the over-allotment option. All issuance costs have 
been funded by the cash consideration received. This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method. The consideration paid 
has been allocated to the assets acquired based on their fair values and the excess of the purchase price over the value of the net identifiable 
assets acquired has been recorded as goodwill. Acquired intangible assets, other than goodwill and tradenames, are subject to amortization. 
The allocation of the purchase price is before the redemption of the Exchangeable LP Units and units owned by the former shareholders 
described below. There is no effect to the value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the step acquisition. The allocation of the 
purchase price is as follows: 

          
Account receivable    $ 18,744   
Inventories      29,107   
Prepaids      837   
Income taxes recoverable      387   
Capital assets      36,097   
Deferred costs      183   
Future income taxes      1,902   
Intangibles      50,979   
Goodwill      59,142   
Bank indebtedness      (6,249 ) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      (25,393 ) 
Bank credit facility      (50,503 ) 
Promissory note      (4,000 ) 
Future income taxes      (18,256 ) 
       

  

Net assets      92,977   
Non-controlling interest      11,300   
       

  

     $ 81,677   
       

  

           
Consideration:          
Cash    $ 69,423   
Employee units (net of deferred compensation)      3,837   
Former shareholder units      8,417   
       

  

     $ 81,677   
       

  



   

The Fund recognizes revenue from the sale of manufactured goods when all of the following criteria have been met: a valid customer 
order with a fixed price has been received; the product has been shipped and title has transferred to the customer; there is no further 
obligation to assist in the resale of the product; and collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenue and cost of sales are recognized as such 
when the Fund is acting as principal and is subject to significant risks and rewards of the business. Commissions, when the Fund is acting 
as an agent, are included in revenues when the related sale is effected.  

Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents consists solely of cash.  

Inventories  

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, applied on a first-in, first-out basis, and market value. Market value for raw materials, 
packaging materials and work-in-process is defined as replacement cost and for finished goods as net realizable value.  
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    On June 14, 2005 the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option, resulting in the issuance by the Fund of an additional 1,657,500 
units at a price of $10 per unit for gross proceeds of $16,575. The cost of issuing the Units was $996 resulting in net proceeds of $15,579. 
The net proceeds were used by the Fund to indirectly repurchase 1,108,505 Exchangeable LP Units and 548,995 units of the Fund 
previously issued to former shareholders. Upon the repurchase of Exchangeable LP Units and former shareholder units, the unitholders 
ownership percentage in the Fund increased from 87.85% to 95.78%, resulting in a reduction of minority interest from the issuance of the 
additional units. 

  

    On March 2, 2006 the Fund formed E. D. Smith & Sons, LP (the “LP”). On June 5, 2006, the LP indirectly acquired substantially all the 
operating assets and certain liabilities of Seaforth Creamery Inc. (the “Seaforth”) for total consideration of $113.8 million including 
acquisition costs. 

  

2.   Summary of significant accounting policies 
  

    The consolidated financial statements of the Fund have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles and within the framework of the significant accounting policies summarized below. 

  

    Principles of consolidation 
  

    These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Fund, the Trust, the Partnership, the LP, E. D. Smith and Sons, Limited, 
and its wholly owned subsidiaries, E. D. Smith, Inc. and E. D. Smith USA Inc. 

  

    Revenue recognition 
  

    Effective January 1, 2006, the Fund adopted the new accounting standard which applies to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 
2006. The Fund has reviewed its policy on revenue recognition, and determined that is should reclassify as a deduction from net sales, 
customer sales incentives related to certain rebates, promotion funds and product listing fees. Previously these costs had been included in 
direct margin. The prior year’s comparative figures have been restated to reflect this change in classification. This change results in a 
reclassification of sales on the consolidated statement of earnings and deficit but does not result in a change in direct margin or net earnings. 

                                                  
    Year ended 2006           Period June 3 to December 31, 2005 
    Sales prior to           Balance as   Sales prior to           Balance as 
    adjustment   adjustment   reported   adjustment   adjustment   reported 
Revenue      255,175       (9,824 )     245,351       113,640       (3,998 )     109,642   



   

Capital assets  

Capital assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets on the 
following basis:  

Computer hardware is also leased under operating leases with three-year terms.  

The Fund evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets and, when the carrying value of a particular asset is deemed to exceed its 
recoverable value, such assets are written down to their fair value and a corresponding charge to earnings is recorded. Repairs and maintenance 
are charged to operations as incurred.  

Deferred financing costs  

The costs of obtaining long-term debt are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the debt to which those costs relate.  

Deferred warehouse lease costs  

Deferred warehouse lease costs resulted on the acquisition of EDS Holdings Inc. in 2005 with respect to a seven-year warehouse lease that 
included an eighteen-month rent-free period, and represent the fair market value of the lease at acquisition. The warehouse lease costs have 
been amortized on a straight-line basis over the eighteen-month rent free period, since it was determined that the rental payments to be made in 
the subsequent sixty-six months represented market rates at acquisition.  

Deferred software maintenance fees  

Deferred software maintenance fees consist of payment during 2006 for a three year renewal for software maintenance support for computer 
software installed during 2003 that supports sales forecasting and production scheduling. The deferred software maintenance fees are being 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the three-year period.  

Goodwill and intangible assets  

The Fund evaluates its goodwill annually to determine potential impairment. In addition to the annual impairment test, the Fund will perform 
an impairment test if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its 
carrying amount. Testing for impairment is accomplished by determining whether the fair value of the reporting unit based on discounted cash 
flows, exceeds the net carrying amount of the reporting unit at the assessment date. If the fair value is greater than the carrying amount, no 
impairment is necessary. In the event that the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, a second test must be performed whereby the fair value of 
the goodwill must be estimated to determine if it is less than its carrying value. Fair value of goodwill is estimated in the same manner as 
goodwill is determined in an acquisition, that is, the excess of the fair value of the Fund over the fair value of the identifiable net assets and 
liabilities of the Fund.  

The Fund’s intangible assets consist of tradenames/trademarks, customer lists, recipes and supply agreements. Trade names/trademarks are not 
amortized and are subject to an annual impairment test or more frequently if events or changes in circumstance indicate that the asset may be 
impaired. Any excess of the carrying value over fair value will be charged to income in the period in which the impairment is determined. 
Customer lists are amortized on a straight-line basis over ten years and the recipes are amortized on a straight-line basis over six to nine years. 
Supply agreements are amortized on a straight-line basis over four years.  
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    Method   Rate 
Buildings    Straight - line   20 - 50 years 
  

Building improvements    Straight - line   10 - 25 years 
  

Machinery and equipment    Straight - line   5 - 25 years 
  

Computer software    Straight - line   3 - 10 years 



   

The Fund reviews the carrying value of its indefinite life intangible assets annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the assets might be impaired. The tradenames / trademarks will be written down if the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their 
fair value. The customer list, recipes and supply agreement are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When the carrying values of the customer list, recipes or supply agreement are less than 
their net recoverable value as determined on an undiscounted basis, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that fair values, measured as 
the discounted cash flows over the life of the assets when quoted market prices are not readily available, are below the assets’ carrying values.  

Future income taxes  

Under the terms of the Income Tax Act (Canada), the Fund will not be subject to income taxes to the extent that its taxable income and taxable 
capital gains are paid or payable to its unitholders. Accordingly, no provision for current income taxes for the Fund has been made. In addition, 
the Fund is contractually committed to distribute to its unitholders all, or virtually all of its taxable income and taxable capital gains that would 
otherwise be taxable to it, and the Fund intends to continue not to be subject to income taxes. Income tax obligations relating to distributions of 
the Fund are the obligations of the unitholders.  

The incorporated entities, E. D. Smith & Sons, Limited, E. D. Smith, Inc., and E. D. Smith USA Inc. are subject to corporate income taxes as 
computed under the Income Tax Act and the CICA Handbook section 3465.  

The Fund’s subsidiary companies record income taxes using the liability method. Under this method, future income taxes are recognized based 
on the expected future tax consequences of differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their corresponding tax bases, 
using substantively enacted income tax rates for the periods in which the differences are expected to reverse. Future tax assets, if any, are 
recognized only to the extent that, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that the assets will be realized.  

Foreign currency translation  

Integrated Foreign Operations  

The accounts of the integrated foreign subsidiary company, E. D. Smith, Inc., are translated into Canadian dollars on the following basis:  

Translation gains and losses are included in the determination of earnings for the period.  

Self-Sustaining Foreign Operations  

The accounts of the self-sustaining subsidiary company, E. D. Smith USA Inc., are translated into Canadian dollars using the current rate 
method, under which all assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the period end, and revenue and expenses are 
translated at the average exchange rate during the period. The resulting gains or losses are not included in earnings but are deferred and shown 
as a cumulative translation adjustment, a separate component of unitholder’s equity. The appropriate amounts of exchange gains and losses 
accumulated in the separate component of unitholder’s equity are reflected in earnings when there is a reduction in the Fund’s net investment in 
the subsidiary as a result of capital transactions.  
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•   Non-monetary assets and liabilities at the historical exchange rate. 
  

•   Monetary assets and liabilities at the exchange rate prevailing at the consolidated balance sheet date. 
  

•   Revenue and expenses at weighted average exchange rates for the period. 
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    Foreign currency transactions and balances 
  

    Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the 
consolidated balance sheet date. The portion of revenue and expenses that are hedged are recorded at the hedged exchange rates. The portion 
that is not hedged is recorded at the weighted average exchange rate for the period. 

  

    Exchange gains or losses are included in the determination of earnings for the period. 
  

    Financial instruments 
  

    The fair market values of the Fund’s current financial assets and liabilities approximate carrying values due to their short-term nature. The 
fair market values of long-term debt instruments bearing interest at rates that float with prime are also considered to approximate their 
carrying values. 

  

    The Fund enters into interest rate swap agreements with the purpose of limiting exposure to interest rate fluctuations on its long-term debt. 
When the interest rate swap agreements are considered effective hedges, gains or losses are accounted for as a component of the related 
hedged transaction. If the hedges are not, or cease to be considered effective, the Fund marks to market the derivative instruments through 
income. The Fund enters into foreign currency contracts to minimize its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. These 
contracts are intended to limit the exposure of the ensuing years’ cash flow based on foreign currency inventory purchases. When the 
foreign exchange contracts are considered effective hedges, exchange gains or losses are accounted for as a component of the related hedged 
transaction. If the hedges are not, or cease to be considered effective, the Fund marks to market the derivative instruments through earnings. 

  

    In order for a derivative to qualify as a hedge, the hedging relationship must be designated and formally documented at its inception, 
detailing the particular risk management objective and strategy for the hedge and the specific cash flows being hedged, as well as how 
effectiveness is being assessed. Changes in the fair value of the derivative must be highly effective in offsetting changes in the amounts of 
the hedged cash flows. Hedge effectiveness is evaluated at the inception of the hedging relationship and on an ongoing basis. 

  

    Use of estimates 
  

    The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. The more significant accounting estimates relate to goodwill and intangible assets, capital assets 
and inventory valuation. 

  

3.   Acquisitions 
  

    On May 12, 2006 the Fund indirectly purchased all the business assets related to the grocery products division of Golden Valley Foods 
Limited., a B.C. based manufacturer of private label and branded fruit-based products, for cash consideration of $5.1 million, including 
acquisition costs. 

  

    The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method, with the results of operations included in the financial statements from 
the date of acquisition. The following table summarizes the amounts paid or payable at the date of the acquisition and the allocation of the 
purchase price based on management’s estimates of the fair values of the assets and liabilities assumed: 



   

Net assets acquired, at assigned values, are as follows:  

The acquired intangible assets are attributable to customer relationships and recipes and are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives of 10 years and 9 years respectively.  

On March 2, 2006 the Fund formed E. D. Smith & Sons, LP (the “LP”). On June 5, 2006, the LP indirectly acquired substantially all the 
operating assets and certain liabilities of Seaforth for total consideration of $113.8 million including acquisition costs. Total consideration 
included 2,000,000 Exchangeable LP Units valued at $18.7 million, each of which are exercisable to acquire one Fund Unit, subject to the 
terms and conditions of the Exchange Agreement and the Purchase and Sale Agreement.  

The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method, with the results of operations included in the financial statements from the 
date of acquisition. The following table summarizes the amounts paid or payable at the date of the acquisition and the allocation of the purchase 
price, based on management’s estimates of the fair values of the assets and liabilities assumed:  

The acquired intangible assets are attributable to customer relationships and recipes and are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives of 10 years and 6 years respectively.  

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the value of the two million Exchangeable Units was determined based on the 
average market price of the Fund’s unit for the two trading days prior to the announcement on April 20, 2006 and two days following the 
announcement.  

The final determination of the purchase price payable was calculated in accordance with the provision of the Purchase and Sale Agreement and 
reflects the achievement of pre-determined EBITDA thresholds as disclosed in the Purchase and Sale Agreement. The accrual is subject to 
confirmation by the vendor and is payable by April 10, 2007. A decrease to the acquisition costs of $15, and an increase of $86 in the cash 
consideration paid resulted as final costs were recognized. Goodwill was adjusted by $14,612 to reflect these changes.  
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Inventories    $ 2,976   
Capital assets      688   
Intangible assets      730   
Goodwill      786   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      (99 ) 
     

  
  

     $ 5,081   
     

  
  

           
Consideration          
Cash    $ 4,835   
Acquisition costs      246   
     

  
  

     $ 5,081   
     

  
  

          
Accounts receivable    $ 8,321   
Foreign exchange contracts      1,684   
Inventories      13,248   
Prepaid expenses      271   
Capital assets      15,645   
Intangible assets      54,400   
Goodwill      26,276   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      (6,042 ) 
     

  
  

     $ 113,803   
     

  
  

           
Consideration          
Cash    $ 74,263   
Exchangeable LP Units (2,000,000 units)      18,700   
Purchase price payable      18,494   
Acquisition costs      2,346   
     

  
  

     $ 113,803   
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4.   Inventories 
  

    Inventories consist of the following: 
                  
    December 31, 2006     December 31, 2005   
Packaging materials    $ 5,125     $ 3,144   
Raw materials      9,215       6,212   
Finished goods      28,532       15,216   
     

  
    

  
  

     $ 42,872     $ 24,572   
     

  
    

  
  

5.   Capital assets 
  

    Capital assets consist of the following: 
                                                  
    December 31, 2006     December 31, 2005   
            Accumulated     Net book             Accumulated     Net book   
    Cost     amortization     value     Cost     amortization     value   
Land    $ 1,021     $ —    $ 1,021     $ 889     $ —    $ 889   
Buildings      10,959       855       10,104       9,769       298       9,471   
Building improvements      740       96       644       696       30       666   
Machinery and equipment      40,544       5,179       35,365       23,071       1,668       21,403   
Construction in progress      3,021       —      3,021       1,594       —      1,594   
Computer software      1,176       577       599       1,119       227       892   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 57,461     $ 6,707     $ 50,754     $ 37,138     $ 2,223     $ 34,915   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

6.   Deferred costs 
  

    Deferred costs consist of the following: 
                                                  
    December 31, 2006     December 31, 2005   
            Accumulated     Net book             Accumulated     Net book   
    Cost     amortization     value     Cost     amortization     value   
Deferred financing costs    $ 845     $ 362     $ 483     $ 65     $ 10     $ 55   
Deferred warehouse lease costs      145       145       —      145       54       91   
Deferred software maintenance fees      733       262       471       135       63       72   
Deferred other costs      —      —      —      278       —      278   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 1,723     $ 769     $ 954     $ 623     $ 127     $ 496   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

7.   Intangible assets 
  

    Intangible assets consist of the following: 
                                                  
    December 31, 2006     December 31, 2005   
            Accumulated     Net Book             Accumulated     Net Book   
    Cost     amortization     Value     Cost     amortization     Value   
Tradenames / trademarks    $ 21,332     $ —    $ 21,332     $ 21,328     $ —    $ 21,328   
Customer list      64,204       5,159       59,045       14,481       766       13,715   
Recipes      18,030       2,874       15,156       12,606       835       11,771   
Supply agreement      1,900       752       1,148       1,900       277       1,623   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 105,466     $ 8,785     $ 96,681     $ 50,315     $ 1,878     $ 48,437   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  



   

Immediately prior to the purchase of the assets of Seaforth, E.D. Smith & Sons Ltd. obtained a new credit facility. The fees associated with this 
refinancing have been deferred and amortized over the 3-year term of this facility.  

The $85,000 revolving facility may be used for ongoing operating requirements, working capital requirements, general corporate purposes 
including the payment of distributions required due to cash flow fluctuations, repayment of existing bank facilities and for certain acquisitions 
and investments. The revolving facility has no scheduled principal repayments prior to May 31, 2009.  

The facility contains certain restrictions and requires the achievement of certain financial ratios and other covenants. The Fund has met the 
requirements of its banking facilities at December 31, 2006.  

In addition to the revolving credit facility, a $20.0 million letter of credit was deposited with the Escrow Agent for the Seaforth purchase. The 
funds were designated for the final payment of the Seaforth purchase price. The estimated final Seaforth payment of $18,494 requires the 
vendor’s confirmation. The Fund’s intention is to consolidate the letter of credit facility with the existing facility. The covenants will be 
amended to address the changes in the amount of credit extended.  

The interest costs on the outstanding $75,466 revolving facility at December 31, 2006 are at floating rates based on Canadian dollar prime rate, 
U.S. base rate, LIBOR or bankers acceptance rate plus an applicable margin to those rates. The effective rate on the outstanding revolving 
facility at December 31, 2006 was 6.17% (2005-5.0%). The Fund has an interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on $25,000 of the 
aggregate principal amount of the revolving facility at 5.34% per annum for a remaining two years. During the year, the Fund entered into a 
second interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on an additional amount ranging from $28,000 to a maximum of $53,000 of the 
aggregate principal amount of the revolving facility at 6.50% per annum over the next three years.  

The maturity dates and other significant terms of the interest rate swap match those of the underlying indebtedness. The interest rate swap is 
designated as a cash flow hedge, and is an effective hedge of the interest rate risk. Any changes in the fair value of the cash flow hedge are 
deferred and not recognized until the hedged transactions are recorded in income.  
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8.   Bank credit facility 



   

On June 3, 2005, the Fund issued 11,050,000 at a price of $10 per unit realizing proceeds of $110,500 on an initial public offering. The 
Fund issued 654,034 units at a price of $10 per unit to certain employees and directors to replace existing deferred compensation 
arrangements and 841,681 units at $10 per unit to former shareholders.  

The Fund granted an over-allotment option to the underwriters to purchase up to 1,657,500 additional Units on the same terms as the 
initial public offering. On June 14, 2005 the over-allotment option was exercised in full with net proceeds from the exercise of the over-
allotment used to repurchase 1,108,505 Exchangeable LP Units and 548,995 Units from certain former shareholders of EDS Holdings 
Inc.  

Trust units issued in the comparative December 31, 2005 balance sheet have been decreased by $3,524 pertaining to certain deductible 
temporary differences on unit issuance costs recorded as at December 31, 2005.  

On June 5, 2006, the Fund issued 7,500,000 Units at a price of $8 per unit realizing proceeds of $60,000 on a second public offering. The 
cost of issuing the Units was $4,595.  

A total of 310,784 Exchangeable LP Units have been exchanged to date; 147,522 during the fourth quarter of December 2005, 55,298 
during the first quarter of 2006, 94,858 during the second quarter of 2006, 8,714 units during the third quarter of 2006 and 4,392 units 
during the fourth quarter of 2006. The LP units were exchanged for Units on a one-for one basis. There was no cost of issuing these units. 
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9.   Trust Units issued 
  

    The capital contributions by unitholders of the Fund are included in Trust Units issued on the consolidated balance sheet as follows. 
                          
    Units (#)         
            Compensation         
    Units     Units     Total   
Issued on initial public offering      11,891,681       654,034       12,545,715   
Exercise over-allotment      1,657,500       —      1,657,500   
Redemption of Units      (548,995 )     —      (548,995 ) 
Exchange of Exchangeable LP Units      147,522       —      147,522   
Units subject to forfeiture      —      (270,276 )     (270,276 ) 

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net Units as of December 31, 2005      13,147,708       383,758       13,531,466   
Issue Units June 5, 2006      7,500,000       —      7,500,000   
Exchange of Exchangeable LP Units      163,262       —      163,262   

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net Units as of December 31, 2006      20,810,970       383,758       21,194,728   
  
    

  
    

  
  

                                  
            Units ( $000’s)         
            Compensation     Unit Issuance         
    Units     Units     Costs     Total   
Issued on initial public offering      118,917       6,540       (8,442 )     117,015   
Exercise over-allotment      16,575       —      (996 )     15,579   
Redemption of Units      (5,490 )     —      —      (5,490 ) 
Exchange of Exchangeable LP Units      1,286       —      —      1,286   
Units subject to forfeiture (net of amortization of $700)      —      (2,002 )     —      (2,002 ) 

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

       131,288       4,538       (9,438 )     126,388   
Contribution by unitholders to non-controlling exchangeable LP 

unitholders                              (5,341 ) 
  
  

Balance December 31, 2005                              121,047   
  
  

Issued Units June 5, 2006      60,000               (4,595 )     55,405   
Exchange of Exchangeable LP Units      1,372       —      —      1,372   
Units subject to forfeiture (amortization of $1,201)      —      1,201       —      1,201   

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

       192,660       5,739       (14,033 )     179,025   
Contribution by unitholders to non-controlling exchangeable LP 

unitholders                              (445 ) 
  
  

Balance December 31, 2006                              178,580   
  
  



   

Page 21  

    Fund Units 
  

    The Declaration of Trust provides that an unlimited number of Units and Special Voting Units may be issued. Each Unit is transferable 
and represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in any distributions of the Fund and in the net assets of the Fund. All Units have 
equal rights and privileges. Each unit entitles the holder thereof to participate equally in allocations and distributions and to one vote at all 
meetings of unitholders for each whole unit held. The Units issued are not subject to future calls or assessments. 

  

    Exchangeable LP Units 
  

    The Declaration of Trust provides that Special Voting Units are issued to represent voting rights in the Trust that accompany the 
Exchangeable LP Units. A Special Voting unit will be issued automatically upon the issue of an Exchangeable LP unit. When an 
Exchangeable Unit is exchanged into a Trust Unit, all voting rights associated with the Special Voting Unit shall terminate. 

  

    On June 3, 2005 the Partnership issued 1,698,187 Exchangeable LP Units (note 9) to former shareholders. On June 14, 2005 the 
underwriters exercised their over-allotment option, resulting in the Fund repurchasing 1,108,505 Exchangeable LP Units. An exchange of 
Exchangeable LP Units will be paid in Units on a one-for-one basis. Exchangeable LP Units carry the right to vote at any meeting that 
unitholders are entitled to vote on the same basis. On June 5, 2006 the Partnership issued 2,000,000 Exchangeable LP Units as part of the 
purchase transaction described in note 10. At December 31, 2006 the outstanding number of Exchangeable LP Units is 2,278,898. 

  

    Employee Units 
  

    Consideration for the primary acquisition also included 654,034 units valued at $6,540 issued to certain employees and directors to replace 
existing deferred compensation arrangements. Of these units 270,276 are subject to forfeiture arrangements based upon continued 
employment with the Fund or its subsidiaries. Vesting of these units commences May 25, 2007 over varying dates to May 25, 2008. 
Accordingly, the value of such units are recorded as deferred compensation and deducted from consideration for the acquisition and will 
be recorded as amortization of deferred costs as the forfeiture provisions expire. During the year ended December 31, 2006, amortization 
of deferred compensation costs was $1,201 (2005-$701). 

  

10.   Non-controlling interest 
  

    Non-controlling interest at December 31, 2006 represents the outstanding Exchangeable LP Units issued to the previous owners of EDS 
Holdings Inc. and Seaforth by the Partnership. The Partnership initially issued 1,698,187 Exchangeable LP Units and upon execution of 
the over-allotment option, 1,108,505 Exchangeable LP Units were redeemed by the unitholders of EDS Holdings Inc. 

  

    On June 5, 2006 the Partnership issued 2,000,000 Exchangeable LP Units (note 3) to Seaforth at a price of $9.35 per unit, for total 
proceeds of $18,700. The issuance of these Exchangeable LP Units resulted in a dilution gain of $2,786. 

  

    An exchange of Exchangeable LP Units for Units will be on a one-for-one basis. Exchangeable LP Units carry the right to vote at any 
meeting that unitholders are entitled to vote on the same basis At year end, non-controlling interest in the Fund amounted to 9.71% 
(2005 – 3.16%). 

  

    The Fund declared to the Exchangeable LP unitholders the distributions as disclosed in note 11. 



   

Distributions declared during the year ended December 31, 2006 were as follows:  

Distributions declared during the year ended December 31, 2006 were $1,439 (2005-$335) or $0.9987 ($0.5920) per Unit.  

Distributions declared during the year ended December 31, 2006 to non-controlling interests were as follows:  
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11.   Cumulative Distributions 
  

    Distributions are made monthly to unitholders of record on the last business day of each month and paid on the 15 th of the following 
month. Distributions to holders of Exchangeable LP Units are declared on the same basis. Distributions declared during the year ended 
December 31, 2006 were $18,129 (2005-$8,097) or $0.9987 (2005-$0.5920) per Unit. 

                                  
                            Distribution 
Period   Record Date   Payment Date   Per Unit $   Amount $ 
Special distribution    December 31, 2005   April 15, 2006     0.0093       128   
January 1, 2006 to January 31, 2006    January 31, 2006   February 15, 2006     0.0854       1,183   
February 1, 2006 to February 28, 2006    February 28, 2006   March 15, 2006     0.0854       1,183   
March 1, 2006 to March 31, 2006    March 31, 2006   April 15, 2006     0.0854       1,183   
April 1, 2006 to April 30, 2006    April 30, 2006   May 15, 2006     0.0854       1,191   
May 1, 2006 to May 31, 2006    May 31, 2006   June 15, 2006     0.0854       1,191   
June 1, 2006 to June 30, 2006    June 30, 2006   July 15, 2006     0.0854       1,832   
July 1, 2006 to July 31, 2006    July 31, 2006   August 15, 2006     0.0854       1,833   
August 1, 2006 to August 31, 2006    August 31, 2006   September 15, 2006     0.0854       1,833   
September 1, 2006 to September 30, 2006    September 30, 2006   October 15, 2006     0.0854       1,833   
October 1, 2006 to October 31, 2006    October 31, 2006   November 15, 2006     0.0854       1,833   
November 1, 2006 to November 30, 2006    November 30, 2006   December 15, 2006     0.0854       1,833   
December 1, 2006 to December 31, 2006    December 31, 2006   January 15, 2007     0.0500       1,073   

                                  
                            Distribution 
Period   Record Date   Payment Date   Per Unit $   Amount $ 
Special distribution    December 31, 2005   April 15, 2006     0.0093       4   
January 1, 2006 to January 31, 2006    January 31, 2006   February 15, 2006     0.0854       33   
February 1, 2006 to February 28, 2006    February 28, 2006   March 15, 2006     0.0854       33   
March 1, 2006 to March 31, 2006    March 31, 2006   April 15, 2006     0.0854       33   
April 1, 2006 to April 30, 2006    April 30, 2006   May 15, 2006     0.0854       25   
May 1, 2006 to May 31, 2006    May 31, 2006   June 15, 2006     0.0854       25   
June 1, 2006 to June 30, 2006    June 30, 2006   July 15, 2006     0.0854       196   
July 1, 2006 to July 31, 2006    July 31, 2006   August 15, 2006     0.0854       195   
August 1, 2006 to August 31, 2006    August 31, 2006   September 15, 2006     0.0854       195   
September 1, 2006 to September 30, 2006    September 30, 2006   October 15, 2006     0.0854       195   
October 1, 2006 to October 31, 2006    October 31, 2006   November 15, 2006     0.0854       195   
November 1, 2006 to November 30, 2006    November 30, 2006   December 15, 2006     0.0854       195   
December 1, 2006 to December 31, 2006    December 31, 2006   January 15, 2007     0.0500       115   

12.   Restructuring costs 
  

    During the year, the Fund recorded restructuring charges of $3,991, relating to employee expenses associated with a severance payment to 
the former CEO and the integration of the combined businesses under a common corporate structure which resulted in employee 
severances completed in February 2007. At December 31, 2006, an amount of $3,047 is included in accrued liabilities related to these 
restructuring charges. 

  

13.   Pension Plan 
  

    The Fund has a defined contribution pension plan. During the year, the Fund made pension contributions totaling $865 (2005-$407), of 
which $356 (2005-$163) is included in selling, general and administrative costs and the balance in costs arriving at direct margin. 

  

14.   Cumulative translation adjustment 
  

    The cumulative translation adjustment represents the effect of exchange rate variations on the translation of the Fund’s net investment in 
E. D. Smith USA Inc., a self-sustaining foreign operation. The unrealized 



   

For the purposes of the North Coast Promissory Note, “EBITDA” is defined as earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and 
amortization, and depletion, provision for site restoration and reforestation, in each case as determined in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles.  

At year-end there is a receivable of $208 from the vendor of North Coast, as defined in the purchase and sale agreement, arising from 
excess costs incurred in construction of the Waste Water Treatment plant. The receivable is current and expected to be paid under normal 
terms of credit.  
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    translation loss of $199 as at December 31, 2006 results from the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar. 
  

15.   Net Change in non-cash operating working capital balances 
                  
    Year Ended     June 3 to   
    December 31, 2006     December 31, 2005   
Decrease in accounts receivable    $ 2,076     $ 991   
(Increase) Decrease in inventories      (1,901 )     4,252   
(Increase) Decrease in prepaid expenses      (212 )     142   
(Decrease) in accounts payables and accrued liabilities      (1,491 )     (7,044 ) 
(Increase) in income taxes recoverable      (3 )     (2,046 ) 

  
    

  
  

Net change in non-cash operating working capital balances    $ (1,531 )   $ (3,705 ) 
  
    

  
  

16.   Related party transactions 
  

    On February 11, 2005, EDS Holdings Inc. acquired the business of North Coast Processing Group. (North Coast) Up to an additional 
US$5.4 million is payable to the vendor over a four-year period based on the achievement of certain financial results of the acquired 
business and was evidenced by a promissory note (North Coast Promissory Note). The North Coast Promissory Note is repayable as 
follows: 

  1.   If the EBITDA of North Coast is at least US$5 million (the “Threshold Amount”) in any year during the four-year period ended 
December 31, 2008, then the vendor will be entitled to a payment of US$500,000 for such year or years in which the Threshold 
Amount is achieved plus accrued interest on that amount. If the Threshold Amount is not attained in a fiscal year, no payment shall be 
made for such year. The Threshold Amount was not attained during the initial fiscal period ended December 31, 2005 and no payment 
was made. In a subsequent fiscal year, if the average EBITDA for that fiscal year and each prior fiscal year results in the Threshold 
Amount having been attained for all such years, a payment of US$500,000 shall be made for each prior fiscal year for which such a 
payment was not made, plus accrued interest on such amounts. The principal amount of the North Coast Promissory Note will be 
reduced by each of these payments. 

  

  2.   If the total EBITDA of North Coast for the four years ended December 31, 2008 is at least US$20 million, then the vendor will be 
entitled to a payment equal to the then outstanding principal amount of the North Coast Promissory Note (net of any payments 
described above) plus accrued interest on that amount. 

  

  3.   In addition, if for the fiscal year of North Coast ended December 31, 2006, the average EBITDA of North Coast for that year and for 
the fiscal year of North Coast ended December 31, 2005 is equal to or greater than the Threshold Amount, the principal amount of the 
North Coast Promissory Note will be paid to the vendor at the rate of US$500,000 per annum, together with accrued interest thereon, 
on or before March 30 in each of the succeeding fiscal years until March 30, 2009, when the remaining balance of the principal 
amount, together with accrued interest thereon, will become due and payable. 

  

  4.   If, during the four-year period ended December 31, 2008, the aggregate EBITDA of North Coast is less than US$20 million, the 
vendor will be entitled to a payout equal to the product of $5.4M multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the aggregate 
EBITDA by $20M less any amounts previously paid together with accrued interest thereon. 
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    During 2006, the LP entered into a lease of a facility from a related entity of a Trustee. The cost during the year was $751, which was 
recorded at the exchanged amount. 

  

17.   Financial instruments 
  

    Credit risk 
  

    At December 31, 2006, the Fund’s accounts receivable included one customer that represented more than 10% of the total accounts 
receivable balance. The customer’s outstanding balance represents 26% (2005 – 25%) of the total accounts receivable. This account is 
paid regularly within normal commercial terms. During the year ended December 31, 2006 this customer represented 25% (2005 – 26%) 
of total revenue. 

  

    In the ordinary course of business, the Fund has ongoing commitments to deliver private label products to certain customers. 
  

    Interest rate risk 
  

    The Fund is exposed to interest rate risk in the event of fluctuation in the Canadian dollar prime rate, U.S. base rate, LIBOR or bankers 
acceptance rate on the revolving credit facility. The Fund has entered into an interest rate swap contract with an approved creditworthy 
counterparty to manage current and anticipated exposure to interest rate risk through May 2, 2008 on $25,000 aggregate principal amount 
on the revolving credit facility. During the year, the Fund entered into a second interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on an 
additional amount ranging from $28,000 to a maximum of $53,000 of the aggregate principal amount of the revolving facility at 6.50% 
per annum over the next three years 

  

    Foreign exchange risk 
  

    The Fund is exposed to Canadian/US$ currency fluctuations on cross-border transactions and on translation of the net investment in, and 
earnings of E. D. Smith, Inc., and E. D. Smith USA Inc. The Fund hedges the foreign currency exposure on anticipated US$ inventory 
purchases with derivatives that have a total notional amount of $14,813 over a 2 year period. On $5,367, the Fund is required to buy US$ 
(sell Canadian dollars) at US/Cdn $1.24 and on $873, the Fund is required to buy US$ (sell Canadian dollars) at US/Cdn $1.195 and on 
US$1,167, the Fund is required to buy US$ (sell Canadian dollars) at US/Cdn $1.191. On the other half of the notional amount, the Fund 
has a call option to buy US$5,367 at US/Cdn. $1.24 and US$873 at US/Cdn $1.195 and US$1,167 at US/Cdn $1.191. The fair value of the 
foreign currency agreement as at December 31, 2006 represents an unrealized loss of $456. 

  

    A foreign currency gain of $414 from operations has been recorded during the year ended December 31, 2006. 
  

18.   Commitments and contingency 
  

    a. Lease commitments 
  

    The Fund has entered into agreements to lease premises, equipment and computer hardware under operating lease agreements expiring at 
various dates to 2011. In aggregate, the commitments total $9,856. The future minimum rental payments for each of the next five years are 
as follows: 

          
2007      2,392   
2008      2,114   
2009      2,008   
2010      1,799   
2011      1,543   
     

  
  

     $ 9,856   
     

  
  



   

Future income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Funds future income tax assets and 
liabilities are as follows:  

At December 31, 2006 the Fund had loss carry forwards of $10,000 expiring at various dates as follows: 2015 — $2,225, 2025 — $835, and 
2026 — $6,940. A valuation allowance has been created against the US future income tax asset as it is more likely than not that the tax asset 
will not be realized.  

On October 31, 2006, the Canadian federal government announced tax proposals pertaining to the taxation of distributions paid by income 
trusts and changes to the personal tax treatment of trust distributions that will be applicable starting in 2011.  

Currently, the Fund does not pay income tax as long as distributions to Unitholders exceed the amount of the Fund’s income that would 
otherwise be taxable. The proposed new law will result in a two-tiered tax  
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    b. Commodity commitments 
  

    The Fund regularly commits to purchase commodities in advance in the normal course of business. Short-term letters of credit, which are 
not material in amount, are used from time to time in this process. At December 31, 2006 the Fund had aggregate purchase commitments 
of $49,296. 

  

19.   Income taxes 
  

    The recovery for income taxes differs from the provision computed at statutory rates due to the various adjustments outlined below: 
                  
            June 3, 2005 to   
    December 31, 2006     December 31, 2005   
Earnings before income taxes and non-controlling interest    $ (429 )   $ 1,841   
Earnings not subject to tax accounting      (14,323 )     (8,432 ) 

  
    

  
  

       (14,752 )     (6,591 ) 
  
    

  
  

Statutory tax rate      36.1 %     36.1 % 
Income tax recovery at statutory tax rate      (5,326 )     (2,379 ) 
Adjustments to income taxes                  

Foreign tax rates differential      (157 )     (100 ) 
Manufacturing and processing tax credit      188       69   
Effect of tax rate changes      (646 )     —  
Permenant differences      277       199   
Losses in subsidiaries not benefitted      1,626       —  
Other      918       (22 ) 

  
    

  
  

Provision for Income Taxes      (3,119 )     (2,233 ) 
  
    

  
  

                  
Accounting provisions    $ 976     $ 535   
Deferred financing fees      97       161   
Cumulative elgible capital      94       20   
Unit issue costs      110       344   
Scientific Research & Developoment      55       —  
Non deductible interest under section 163j      941       —  
Losses carried forward      3,433       —  

  
    

  
  

       5,706       1,060   
Less: valuation allowance      1,626       —  

  
    

  
  

       4,080       1,060   
Less: current portion      976       535   

  
    

  
  

Non-current future income tax assets      3,104       525   
  
    

  
  

                   
Future Income Tax Liabilities                  

Scientific Research & Developoment      —      28   
Capital assets      2,458       3,147   
Intangible assets      11,725       13,557   

  
    

  
  

Non-current future income tax liabilities      14,183       16,732   
  
    

  
  

Net non-current future income tax liabilities    $ 11,079     $ 16,207   
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    structure similar to that of corporations whereby the taxable portion of distributions would be subject to income tax payable by the Fund at 
a rate of 31.5%, while taxable Canadian Unitholders would receive the favourable tax treatment on distributions currently applicable to 
qualifying dividends. The Funds currently non-taxable entities will need to record future taxes on their respective temporary differences if 
the new legislation is passed. 

  

    As of the date of these financial statements, the government’s proposal remains draft and has not been passed into law. 
  

    In addition to the foregoing, the Fund is subject to various additional uncertainties concerning the interpretation and application of 
Canadian and U.S. tax laws that could affect the Fund’s profitability and cash flows. 

  

    The Fund has received opinions from U.S. tax counsel on certain tax matters related to its investment in its U.S. subsidiary. The 
consolidated financial statements of the Fund reflect those opinions; specifically that loans to the U.S. subsidiary should be respected as 
debt and the interest on those loans should be deductible by the U.S. subsidiary for U.S. federal income tax purposes, subject to limitations 
imposed by Section 163(j) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and that interest should be subject to U.S. federal income tax 
withholding. 

  

    There can be no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) will not challenge various tax filing positions taken by the Fund. 
Management believes it is unlikely that the IRS would be successful; however, the effect on the income of the Fund and the net cash 
received by the Fund of a successful challenge by the IRS could negatively impact cash received by the Fund through its investments in 
the U.S. subsidiary. 

  

    In addition to the foregoing, and in common with other complex international business structures, the Fund is subject to various additional 
uncertainties concerning the interpretations and application of Canadian and U.S. tax laws, including uncertainties related to implementing 
regulations on recently enacted U.S. tax laws. If tax authorities disagreed with the Fund’s application of tax laws, or if new implementing 
regulations are enacted broadly and retroactively, the Fund’s profitability and cash flows could be adversely affected. 

  

20.   Segmented information 
  

    During the year, the Fund operated one reportable segment: the manufacturing and marketing of fruit, sauce and oil based food products. 
The Fund has two geographic segments, Canada and United States. 

                                                  
    Year ended   June 3, 2005 to   
    December 31, 2006   December 31, 2005 
    Canada   United States   Total   Canada   United States   Total 
    $   $   $   $   $   $ 
Revenue      150,310       95,041       245,351       77,101       32,541       109,642   

  

                                                  
    December 31, 2006   December 31, 2005   
    Canada   United States   Total   Canada   United States   Total 
                $   $   $ 
Assets      263,707       40,929       304,636       154,416       35,937       190,353   
Intangibles      88,521       8,160       96,681       39,332       9,105       48,437   
Goodwill      81,368       4,507       85,875       54,443       4,362       58,805   

  

    Revenue by geographic segment is determined based on country of destination. 
  

21.   Comparative consolidated financial statements 
  

    The comparative consolidated financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously presented to conform to the 
presentation of the 2006 consolidated financial statements. 

  

22.   Differences between Canadian and United States of America Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
  

    The consolidated financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with 
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    accounting principles generally accepted in Canada (“Canadian GAAP”) which in most respects, conform to accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The significant differences as they apply to the Fund are shown 
below. All amounts are in thousands (unless otherwise noted) and Canadian Dollars. Where applicable, the tax rate applied to the 
adjustments is 34.48%. 

  

    Consolidated statements of earnings in accordance with U.S. GAAP are as follows: 
                  
    2006     2005   
Earnings — Canadian GAAP    $ 5,309     $ 3,924   
                   
Dilution gain adjustment (b)      (2,688 )     —  
Tax credit adjustment (d)      —      (230 ) 
     

  
    

  
  

Earnings — U.S. GAAP    $ 2,621     $ 3,694   
     

  

    

  

  

                   
Earnings per Fund Unit                  

Basic    $ 0.15     $ 0.28   
Diluted    $ 0.13     $ 0.26   

                   
Weighted average units outstanding                  

Basic (actual, not in thousands)      17,973,567       13,342,489   
Diluted (actual, not in thousands)      19,439,380       13,973,560   



   

Consolidated balance sheets in accordance with U.S. GAAP are as follows:  
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    CDN GAAP     U.S. GAAP     CDN GAAP     U.S. GAAP   
    2006     2006     2005     2005   
ASSETS                                  
Current Assets                                  
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 1,334     $ 1,334     $ 2,066     $ 2,066   
Accounts receivable — trade      23,718       23,718       17,440       17,440   
Inventories      42,872       42,872       24,572       24,572   
Prepaid expenses      1,133       1,133       650       650   
Income taxes recoverable      339       339       2,437       2,437   
Future income taxes (c)      976       1,253       535       937   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total current assets      70,372       70,649       47,700       48,102   
                                   
Capital assets, net      50,754       50,754       34,915       34,915   
Deferred cost, net      954       954       496       496   
Derivative financial instruments (c)      —      210       —      276   
Intangible assets      96,681       96,681       48,437       48,437   
Goodwill (b, c)      85,875       82,957       58,805       58,575   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total Assets    $ 304,636     $ 302,205     $ 190,353     $ 190,801   
                                   
LIABILITIES AND UNITHOLDERS ’ EQUITY                                  
Current liabilities                                  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    $ 22,293     $ 22,293     $ 17,861     $ 17,861   
Purchase price payable      18,494       18,494       —      —  
Distributions payable to unitholders      1,073       1,073       1,179       1,179   
Distributions payable to exchangeable LP unitholders      115       115       37       37   
Derivative financial instruments (c)      —      740       —      1,167   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total current liabilities      41,975       42,715       19,077       20,244   
                                   
Bank credit facility      75,466       75,466       36,717       36,717   
Future Income taxes (c)      11,079       11,174       16,207       16,302   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total liabilities      128,520       129,355       72,001       73,263   
                                   
Non-controlling interest (e)      17,101       17,060       3,851       3,833   
Temporary equity (a)      —      101,719       —      123,336   
                                   
Unitholders’  equity                                  
Trust units issued (a)      178,580       —      121,047       —  
Deficit (a,c,d)      (16,993 )     56,950       (4,173 )     (6,692 ) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss      (2,572 )     (2,879 )     (2,373 )     (2,939 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total unitholders’  equity      159,015       54,071       114,501       (9,631 ) 
                                   
Total liabilities and unitholders’  equity    $ 304,636     $ 302,205     $ 190,353     $ 190,801   
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a.   Unitholders’  Equity 
  

    Under adoption of EITF D-98 “Classification and Measurement of Redeemable Securities”, the Fund records the redemption value of all 
outstanding Trust units as temporary equity on the consolidated balance sheets. The amount included for Unitholders’ Equity is reduced 
by an amount equal to the redemption value of the Trust units as at the balance sheet date. The redemption value of the Trust units is 
determined with respect to the trading value of the Fund, and the amount of the redemption value is classified as temporary equity. Under 
Canadian GAAP, all Trust units are classified as Unitholders’ Equity. As at December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Fund has classified 
$101,719 and $123,336 respectively, as temporary equity in accordance with U.S. GAAP, after adjusting the amount to the redemption 
value. 

  

    As of and for the year ended December 31, 2006, the Trust units were reduced to the redemption value by $76,861, with the offset being 
recorded through Unitholders’ Equity. As of December 31, 2005 and the period from June 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005, the Trust units 
were increased to the redemption value by $2,289, with the offset being recorded through Unitholders’ Equity. Upon adjustment to the 
redemption value, the unitholder value was reclassified as temporary equity. 

  

b.   Dilution Gain Adjustment 
  

    In 2006 the Fund recorded a dilution gain upon the issuance of a subsidiary’s securities (Exchangeable Units) in connection with a 
purchase of a business. For Canadian GAAP purposes, the Exchangeable Units were measured using the average price 2 days before and 
after April 20, 2006, the announcement date. For U.S. GAAP purposes, the exchangeable units were measured as of the consummation 
date, June 3, 2006. By measuring the Exchangeable Units at the consummation date, the dilution gain was reduced by $2,688 to $98 
under U.S. GAAP. 

  

c.   Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments 
  

    Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities” (“SFAS133”), as modified by SFAS No. 138 “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging 
Activities”, establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument be recorded in the balance sheet as 
either an asset or liability measured at its fair value, and that change in the fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific 
hedge accounting criteria are met. This statement requires an entity to establish, at the inception of a hedge, the method it will use for 
assessing the effectiveness of the hedging derivative and the measurement approach for determining the ineffective aspects of the hedge. 
Those methods must be consistent with the entity’s approach to managing risk. 

  

    For Canadian GAAP purposes the Fund identified its derivative financial instruments as cash flow hedges, which include interest rate 
swap agreements and hedges of foreign currency fluctuations. The interest rate agreements adjust the variable rate debt to fixed rate debt. 
The foreign currency hedges were put in place due to the exposure to Canadian/US Dollar currency fluctuations on cross border 
transactions. 
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    Effective January 1, 2007, the Fund adopted CICA Handbook Section 3855 — Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement, 
Section 3865 — Hedges — and Section 1530 — Comprehensive income . This will effectively eliminate U.S. GAAP differences for 
periods after January 1, 2007 

  

    In accordance with Canadian GAAP, payments or receipts on these contracts were recognized in earnings concurrently with the hedged 
transactions. The fair values of the contracts accounted for as hedges were not reflected in the consolidated financial statements under 
Canadian GAAP. 

  

    The following adjustments were made to reconcile the Canadian GAAP to U.S. GAAP: 
                  
    2006   2005 
Derivative asset — increase    $ 210     $ 276   
Derivative liability — increase      740       1,167   
Other comprehensive loss      (348 )     (584 ) 
Increase to future income tax asset      277       402   
Increase to future income tax liability      95       95   

d.   Tax credit adjustment 
  

    For purposes of Canadian GAAP, the Fund recognized previously unrecognized income tax credit carry-forwards of an acquired entity 
through the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Deficit, net of tax. However, under U.S. GAAP, subsequent realization of 
previously unrecognized tax benefits of an acquired entity would first be applied to goodwill arising on the purchase, then to intangibles 
and finally to earnings. The required adjustment is listed below. 

  

    The following adjustments were made to reconcile Canadian GAAP to U.S. GAAP: 
                  
    2006   2005 
Increase in expense    $ —    $ 230   
Decrease in goodwill      230       230   
Increase in deficit      230       —  

e.   Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
  

    Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the year ended December 31, 2006 and the period June 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005: 
                  
    2006     2005   
Earnings — U.S. GAAP    $ 2,621     $ 3,694   

Change in foreign exchange contracts, net of tax      471       (765 ) 
Change in interest rate swaps, net of tax      (235 )     181   
Minority interest      23       18   
Change in cumulative translation adjustment      (199 )     (2,373 ) 

     
  
    

  
  

Total comprehensive income (loss)    $ 2,681     $ 755   
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f.   Financial statement subtotals 
  

    The Fund presents funds from operations before changes in non-cash working capital as a subtotal in the consolidated statement of cash 
flows. This line item would not be presented in a cash flow statement prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

  

    The Fund presents earnings before interest, income taxes, amortization, non-controlling interest, and dilution gain. This line item would 
not be presented in a consolidated statement of earnings and deficit prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

  

g.   Recent U.S. Accounting Standards 
  

    In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155 (“SFAS 155”), “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments-an Amendment 
of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140.” This statement Permits fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains 
an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation, clarifies which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not 
subject to the requirements of Statement 133, establishes a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify 
interests that are freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring 
bifurcation, clarifies that concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives, and amends Statement 
140 to eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative financial instrument that pertains to a 
beneficial interest other than another derivative financial instrument. SFAS 155 is effective for all financial instruments acquired or 
issued after the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. The fair value election provided for in 
paragraph 4(c) of this Statement may also be applied upon adoption of this Statement for hybrid financial instruments that had been 
bifurcated under paragraph 12 of Statement 133 prior to the adoption of this Statement. Earlier adoption is permitted as of the beginning 
of an entity’s fiscal year, provided the entity has not yet issued financial statements, including financial statements for any interim period 
for that fiscal year. Provisions of this Statement may be applied to instruments that an entity holds at the date of adoption on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis. The Fund is currently assessing the impact of Statement 155 on its consolidated financial statements. 

  

    On July 13, 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of 
FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN No. 48”). FIN No. 48 clarifies what criteria must be met prior to recognition of the financial statement 
benefit of a position taken in a tax return. FIN No. 48 will require companies to include additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures 
within their financial statements. The disclosures will include potential tax benefits from positions taken for tax return purposes that have 
not been recognized for financial reporting purposes and a tabular presentation of significant changes during each period. The disclosures 
will also include a discussion of the nature of uncertainties, factors which could cause a change, and an estimated range of reasonably 
possible changes in tax uncertainties. FIN No. 48 will also require a company to recognize a financial statement benefit for a position 
taken for tax return purposes when it will be more-likely-than-not that the position will be sustained. FIN No. 48 will be effective for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Fund’s preliminary analysis indicates no adjustment will be required upon adoption 
of FIN 48. 

  

    In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157 “Fair Value Measurement,” which defines fair value, establishes a framework for 
measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS 157 are effective for fiscal years 
beginning 
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    after November 15, 2007. The Fund is currently evaluating the impact SFAS 157 will have on its financial statements. 
  

    In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulleting (SAB) No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements 
when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements,” which provides interpretive guidance on the quantification of 
financial statement misstatements in order to eliminate the diversity in practice that currently exists among public companies. SAB 
No. 108 is required to be applied to annual financial statements for the first fiscal year ending after November 15, 2006. The adoption of 
SAB No. 108 did not have an impact on the Fund’s Financial Statements. 

  

    In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an 
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 , which permits measurement of financial instruments and other certain items at fair value. SFAS 
No. 159 does not require any new fair value measurements. SFAS No. 159 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2007. Early adoption is permitted provided that SFAS No. 157 is concurrently adopted. The Fund is 
currently evaluating the impact SFAS No. 159 will have on its financial statements. 
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    As at   As at 
(stated in thousands of dollars )   June 30, 2007   December 31, 2006 
    $   $ 
ASSETS                  
Current assets                  
Cash and cash equivalents      2,280       1,334   
Accounts receivable — trade (note 13)      22,089       23,718   
Inventories      43,200       42,872   
Prepaid expenses      1,979       1,133   
Derivative financial instruments (note 3)      253       —  
Income taxes recoverable      47       339   
Future income taxes      762       976   

    
      

  
  

Total current assets      70,610       70,372   
Capital assets, net      50,195       50,754   
Deferred costs, net      373       954   
Derivative financial instruments (note 3)      264       —  
Intangible assets      91,351       96,681   
Goodwill ( notes 4 and 12 )      91,529       85,875   

    
      

  
  

       304,322       304,636   
    

      
  
  

LIABILITIES AND UNITHOLDERS ’ EQUITY                  
Current liabilities                  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      26,009       22,293   
Deferred income      438       —  
Purchase price payable (notes 4 and 5)      —      18,494   
Distributions payable to unitholders (note 8)      1,073       1,073   
Distributions payable to exchangeable LP unitholders (note 8)      114       115   
Derivative financial instruments (note 3)      820       —  

    
      

  
  

Total current liabilities      28,454       41,975   
                   
Bank credit facility (note 5)      97,803       75,466   
Deferred income      1,870       —  
Future income taxes (note 17)      17,165       11,079   

    
      

  
  

Total liabilities      145,292       128,520   
    

      
  
  

Non-controlling interest (notes 7 and 8)      16,199       17,101   
    

      
  
  

Commitments and contingency (notes 12, 14 and 16)                  
Unitholders’  equity                  
Trust units issued (note 6)      179,172       178,580   
Deficit      (31,280 )     (16,993 ) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (note 10)      (5,061 )     (2,572 ) 

    
      

  
  

Total unitholders’  equity      142,831       159,015   
    

      
  
  

       304,322       304,636   
    

      
  
  

          
   

      
On behalf of the Board:   R. J. Nobes   Jack H. Scott 

    Trustee   Trustee 
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    Three months     Three months     Six months     Six months   
    ended     ended     ended     ended   

  June 30, 2007     July 1, 2006     June 30, 2007     July 1, 2006   
    $     $     $     $   
Revenue      79,832     56,191     155,318     97,546   

    
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Direct margin      12,752       10,575       24,562       19,418   
Selling, general and administrative costs      6,511       5,384       13,400       10,009   

Restructuring costs (note 9)      —      438       600       1,228   
    

    
  
    

  
    

  
  

Earnings before interest, income taxes, amortization, and non- 
controlling interest      6,241       4,753       10,562       8,181   

Amortization of capital assets, intangibles and deferred costs      4,028       2,815       8,175       4,956   
Interest      1,956       851       3,477       1,363   

    
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Earnings (loss) before income taxes, and non-controlling interest      257       1,087       (1,090 )     1,862   
    

    
  
    

  
    

  
  

Income tax provision                                  
Current      204       716       204       100   
Future (note 17)      7,964       (1,616 )     6,419       (1,750 ) 

    
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

       8,168       (900 )     6,623       (1,650 ) 
    

    
  
    

  
    

  
  

Earnings (loss) before non-controlling interest      (7,911 )     1,987       (7,713 )     3,512   
Non-controlling interest (note 7)      116       159       135       201   
Dilution gain (note 7)      —      2,786       —      2,786   

    
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net earnings (loss) for the period      (8,027 )     4,614       (7,848 )     6,097   
Deficit, beginning of period      (20,034 )     (6,367 )     (16,993 )     (4,173 ) 
Distributions declared to unitholders (note 8)      3,219       4,214       6,439       7,891   

    
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Deficit, end of period      (31,280 )     (5,967 )     (31,280 )     (5,967 ) 
    

    
  
    

  
    

  
  

Earnings per unit — basic    $ (0.38 )   $ 0.29     $ (0.37 )   $ 0.41   
    

    
  
    

  
    

  
  

Earnings per unit — diluted    $ (0.38 )   $ 0.29     $ (0.37 )   $ 0.41   
    

    
  
    

  
    

  
  

Weighted average number of units outstanding — basic      21,250,169       15,820,468       21,222,757       14,701,224   
    

    
  
    

  
    

  
  

Weighted average number of units outstanding — diluted      21,250,169       16,256,319       21,222,757       15,541,155   
    

    
  
    

  
    

  
  

                                  
    Three months   Three months   Six months   Six months 
    ended   ended   ended   ended 

  June 30, 2007   July 1, 2006   June 30, 2007   July 1, 2006 
    $   $   $   $ 
Net earnings (loss) for the period      (8,027 )     4,614       (7,848 )     6,097   

Change in foreign exchange contracts, net of income taxes      (241 )     —      (243 )     —  
Change in interest rate swaps, net of income taxes      351       —      392       —  
Allocation to minority interest      (11 )     —      19       —  
Change in cumulative translation adjustment      (2,104 )     —      (2,308 )     —  

    
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Comprehensive income (loss) for the period      (10,032 )     4,614       (9,988 )     6,097   
    

    
  
    

  
    

  
  



   

E. D. SMITH INCOME FUND  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

(Unaudited)  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements  

Page 36  

                                  
    Three months   Three months   Six months   Six months 
    ended   ended   ended   ended 
(stated in thousands of dollars)   June 30, 2007   July 1, 2006   June 30, 2007   July 1, 2006 
    $   $   $         
OPERATING ACTIVITIES                                  
Net earnings (loss) for the period      (8,028 )     4,614       (7,849 )     6,097   
Add (deduct) items not involving cash                                  

Non-controlling interest      117       159       136       201   
Dilution gain      —      (2,786 )     —      (2,786 ) 
Amortization      4,028       2,726       8,175       4,862   
Deferred financing fees      79       89       179       94   
Future income taxes      7,964       (1,616 )     6,419       (1,750 ) 

         
      

  
      

  
      

  
  

       4,160       3,186       7,060       6,718   
Net change in non-cash operating working capital balances (note 11)     (228 )     (4,199 )     4,320       (6,179 ) 
         

      
  
      

  
      

  
  

Cash provided (used in) by operating activities      3,932       (1,013 )     11,380       539   
         

      
  
      

  
      

  
  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES                                  
Business acquisitions and acquisition costs (note 4)      (24,731 )     (79,312 )     (24,731 )     (79,846 ) 
Purchase of capital assets      (1,836 )     (702 )     (3,400 )     (1,406 ) 
Increase in deferred costs      —      (501 )     —      (657 ) 
         

      
  
      

  
      

  
  

Cash used in investing activities      (26,567 )     (80,515 )     (28,131 )     (81,909 ) 
         

      
  
      

  
      

  
  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES                                  
Issuance of trust units (note 6)      —      60,000       —      60,000   
Expenses related to issuance of trust and exchangeable LP units      —      (3,419 )     —      (3,419 ) 
Increase (decrease) in deferred income      (108 )     —      1,870       —  
Increase in bank credit facility      24,877       29,101       22,641       31,118   
Distributions to unitholders      (3,219 )     (3,693 )     (6,439 )     (7,241 ) 
Distributions to exchangeable LP unitholders      (342 )     (87 )     (684 )     (190 ) 
         

      
  
      

  
      

  
  

Cash provided by financing activities      21,208       81,902       17,388       80,268   
         

      
  
      

  
      

  
  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents      141       147       309       95   
         

      
  
      

  
      

  
  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the 
period      (1,286 )     521       946       (1,007 ) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period      3,566       538       1,334       2,066   
         

      
  
      

  
      

  
  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period      2,280       1,059       2,280       1,059   
         

      
  
      

  
      

  
  

                                   
Supplemental cash flow information                                  
Interest paid      1,821       804       3,313       1,346   
Income taxes paid      110       367       194       563   
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1.   Formation of the Fund and the Acquisition 
  

    E. D. Smith Income Fund (the “Fund”) is an open-ended, limited purpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario by a 
Declaration of Trust dated April 29, 2005. The Fund was created to acquire and hold, indirectly through E.D. Smith Operating Trust (the 
“Trust”), limited partnership units of E.D. Smith Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”), which, in turn, has been formed to acquire all of 
the outstanding securities of EDS Holdings Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “EDS Holdings Inc.”). The Fund remained inactive 
until June 3, 2005 when the Fund completed an initial public offering of 11,050,000 trust units of the Fund (the “Units”) at a price of $10 
per unit, realizing gross proceeds of $110,500. On March 2, 2006 the Fund formed E. D. Smith & Sons, LP (the “LP”). On June 5, 2006, 
the LP indirectly acquired substantially all the operating assets and certain liabilities of Seaforth Creamery Inc. (the “Seaforth”) for total 
consideration of $118.8 million including acquisition costs. Total consideration includes an additional $4.9 million in connection with the 
determination of the final purchase price as disclosed in note 4. 

  

2.   Basis of presentation 
  

    The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Fund in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles with respect to the preparation of interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not 
include all information and footnotes as required in the preparation of annual financial statements and should be read in conjunction with 
the December 31, 2006 audited consolidated financial statements and notes included in the Fund’s 2006 Annual Report. 

  

    The preparation of interim consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expense 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

  

    These interim consolidated financial statements follow the same accounting policies and methods of their application as the December 31, 
2006 audited consolidated financial statements, except as described below (note 3). 

  

3.   Accounting policy changes 
  

    Effective January 1, 2007 the Fund adopted CICA Handbook Section 3855 “Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement”, 
Section 3861 “Financial Instruments — Disclosure and Presentation”, Section 3865 “Hedges” and Section 1530 “Comprehensive 
Income”. The adoption of the new standards resulted in changes in accounting for financial instruments and hedges as well as the 
recognition of certain transition adjustments that have been recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income. The comparative 
interim consolidated financial statements have not been restated except as noted below. On January 1, 2007, the following adjustments 
were made to the balance sheet to adopt the new requirements: 

          
    January 1, 2007   
Derivative financial instruments — foreign exchange contracts (net of tax)    $ (294 ) 
Derivative financial instruments — interest rate swaps (net of tax)      (55 ) 
     

  
  

     $ (349 ) 
     

  
  

    The principal changes in the accounting for financial instruments and hedges due to the adoption of these accounting standards are 
described below: 
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    Financial assets and financial liabilities 
  

    Financial assets are accounted for on an amortized cost basis and financial liabilities are accounted for on an accruals basis, consistent 
with prior accounting policies with the exception of deferred financing costs and derivative financial instruments. Deferred financing 
costs of $483 at December 31, 2006, that were previously reported in deferred costs, are now netted against the carrying value of the 
related debt and amortized into interest expense using the effective interest rate method. Prior to the adoption of the new standards, the 
amortization of deferred financing was included in the amortization line in the consolidated statement of earnings and deficit. 

  

    Derivative and hedge accounting 
  

    The Fund enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its exposure in foreign denominated cash flows. The Fund also uses 
interest rate swaps to limit its exposure to interest rate fluctuations on its long-term debt. Prior to the adoption of the new standards, 
eligible gains and losses on forward foreign currency contracts that were considered effective hedges were deferred and recognized as 
part of the cost of inventory purchases and charged or credited to cost of sales when such inventory was sold. Gains and losses on highly 
effective interest rate swaps were accounted for as a component of the related hedged item. Under the new standards all derivatives, other 
than those contracts entered into for the Fund’s own expected requirements, are recorded at their fair value. 

  

    The effective portion of changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges is recognized in other comprehensive income. Amounts 
accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the statement of earnings and deficit in the period in which the hedged 
item affects the earnings and deficit. Any change in the fair value relating to the ineffective portion of the hedge is recognized 
immediately in the consolidated statement of earnings and deficit. Based on the changes, no income was recorded in the three-month 
period ended June 30, 2007 and $2 has been recorded on a year-to-date basis in the consolidated statement of earnings and deficit. 

  

    Comprehensive income and accumulated other comprehensive loss 
  

    Comprehensive income is composed of the Fund’s net income and other comprehensive income. Other comprehensive income includes 
changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges and the reclassification to net income of deferred gains 
on the ineffective portion of the interest rate swaps, all net of income taxes. 

  

    The amounts disclosed in other comprehensive income for the three months ended June 30, 2007 are net of income taxes of $57 and 
represent the change in the fair values on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges. The transition adjustment represents deferred losses 
on foreign exchange contracts of $294 and deferred losses on the fair value of interest rate swaps of $55, net of taxes, in accumulated 
other comprehensive loss. Accumulated other comprehensive loss also includes losses on net investments in self-sustaining foreign 
operations. This cumulative translation adjustment represents the effect of exchange rate variations on the translation of the Fund’s net 
investment in E. D. Smith USA Inc., a self-sustaining foreign operation. The unrealized translation loss of $2,308 as at June 30, 2007 
results from the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar. On transition to the new standards, the comparative amounts 
of other comprehensive income for the period only reflect the amounts previously recorded in the cumulative translation adjustment 
account. 

  

4.   Acquisition 
  

    On March 2, 2006 the Fund formed E. D. Smith & Sons, LP (the “LP”). On June 5, 2006, the LP indirectly acquired substantially all the 
operating assets and certain liabilities of Seaforth for total consideration of $113.8 million including acquisition costs. Total consideration 
included 2,000,000 Exchangeable LP Units valued at $18.7 million, each of which are exercisable to acquire one Fund Unit, subject to 
the terms and conditions of the Exchange Agreement and the Purchase and Sale Agreement. The Purchase and Sale agreement with 
Seaforth contained a purchase price adjustment based on 2006 EBITDA and working capital. Including additional consideration and 
acquisition costs, the total Seaforth purchase consideration was$118.8 million. 
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    The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method, with the results of operations included in the financial statements from 
the date of acquisition. The following table summarizes the final allocation of the purchase price, based on management’s estimates of the 
fair values of the assets and liabilities assumed: 

          
Accounts receivable    $ 8,321   
Foreign exchange contracts      1,684   
Inventories      13,248   
Prepaid expenses      271   
Capital assets      15,645   
Intangible assets      54,400   
Goodwill      31,251   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      (6,042 ) 
     

  
  

     $ 118,778   
     

  
  

           
Consideration          
Cash    $ 97,625   
Exchangeable LP Units (2,000,000 units)      18,700   
Acquisition costs      2,453   
     

  
  

     $ 118,778   
     

  
  

    The acquired intangible assets are attributable to customer relationships and recipes and are being amortized on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives of 10 years and 6 years respectively. 

  

    In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the value of the 2,000,000 Exchangeable Units was determined based on the 
average market price of the Fund’s unit for the two trading days prior to the announcement on April 20, 2006 and two days following the 
announcement. 

  

    The final determination of the purchase price payable was calculated in accordance with the provision of the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement and reflects the achievement of pre-determined EBITDA thresholds as disclosed in the Purchase and Sale Agreement. The 
Fund had entered into an arbitration process with Seaforth to determine the final payment on the Fund’s purchase of the assets of Seaforth 
Creamery Inc. The Fund paid the Vendor $15,330 in April 2007 representing the minimum undisputed amount of the final payment. 
Additional consideration of $8,036 was paid to the Vendor as final settlement of the purchase price in accordance with the arbitration 
settlement ruling, of which $3,164 had been accrued with a resulting adjustment to the original purchase price paid and goodwill. 
Acquisition costs and goodwill have been adjusted for additional acquisition costs of $107 incurred in reaching the settlement. 

  

5.   Bank credit facility 
  

    Immediately prior to the purchase of the assets of Seaforth, E.D. Smith & Sons Ltd. obtained a new credit facility. The fees associated 
with this refinancing have been deferred and amortized over the 3-year term of the facility. Based on new accounting guidelines effective 
January 1, 2007 these costs are now netted against the facility for presentation on the balance sheet and their amortization is charged to 
interest expense. 

  

    The $85,000 revolving facility may be used for ongoing operating requirements, working capital requirements, general corporate 
purposes including the payment of distributions required due to cash flow fluctuations, repayment of existing bank facilities and for 
certain acquisitions and investments. The revolving facility has no scheduled principal repayments prior to May 31, 2009. 

  

    In addition to the revolving credit facility, a $20.0 million letter of credit was deposited with the Escrow Agent for payment of the final 
installment of the Seaforth purchase price. This letter of credit was converted to cash on April 4, 2007 and $15,330 was paid to Seaforth 
representing the amount of the minimum undisputed payment of the acquisition. The determination of the remaining payment to Seaforth 
was resolved through an arbitration process whereby Seaforth received an additional amount of $8,036. $4,670 of this amount was funded 
from the remaining funds on deposit with the escrow agent and $3,366 was funded from the operating credit facility. 

  

    To accommodate the additional credit extended for the final installment of the Seaforth acquisition, the lender has provided a new facility 
of $24,000, which is in addition to the existing $85,000 credit facility. Covenants have been amended to address the higher borrowing 
limits. 
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    The facility contains certain restrictions and requires the achievement of certain financial ratios and other covenants. As a result of the 
additional credit facility and the substantive enactment of the “tax fairness” legislation (note 17), the Fund was in breach of certain 
requirements of its banking facilities as at June 30, 2007. The lender has subsequently provided amendments to the credit facility that 
cure the covenant breach. 

  

    The interest costs on the outstanding $97,803 revolving facility, net of $304 deferred financing fees, at June 30, 2007 are at floating rates 
based on Canadian dollar prime rate, U.S. base rate, LIBOR or bankers acceptance rate plus an applicable margin to those rates. The 
effective rate on the outstanding revolving facility at June 30, 2007 was 6.31% (2006 — 6.36%). The Fund has an interest rate swap 
agreement to fix the interest rate on $25,000 of the aggregate principal amount of the revolving facility at 5.34% per annum expiring in 
May 2008. During 2006, the Fund entered into a second interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on an additional amount 
ranging from $28,000 to a maximum of $53,000 of the aggregate principal amount of the revolving facility at 6.50% per annum expiring 
in May 2009. 

  

    The maturity dates and other significant terms of the interest rate swap match those of the underlying indebtedness. The interest rate swap 
is designated as a cash flow hedge, and is an effective hedge of the interest rate risk. Any changes in the fair value of the cash flow hedge 
are deferred and not recognized until the hedged transactions are recorded in income. 

  

6.   Trust Units issued 
  

    The capital contributions by unitholders of the Fund are included in Trust Units issued on the consolidated balance sheet as follows. 
                          
            Units (#)     
            Compensation     
    Units   Units   Total 
    

  

Net Units as of December 31, 2006      20,810,970       383,758       21,194,728   
    

  

Vesting of units subject to forfeiture      —      180,184       180,184   
    

  

Net Units as of June 30, 2007      20,810,970       563,942       21,374,912   
    

  

                          
            Units ( $000’s)     
            Compensation     
    Units   Units   Total 
    

  

Balance December 31, 2006                      178,580   
    

  

Amortization of units subject to forfeiture      —      525       525   
Contribution by unitholders to non-controlling exchangeable LP unitholders      —      —      67   
    

  

Balance June 30, 2007                      179,172   
    

  

    On June 5, 2006, the Fund issued 7,500,000 Units at a price of $8 per unit realizing proceeds of $60,000 on a second public offering. The 
cost of issuing the Units was $4,595. 

  

    A total of 310,784 Exchangeable LP Units have been exchanged to date: 147,522 during 2005, 163,262 during 2006 with no exchanges 
occurring in 2007. The LP units were exchanged for Units on a one-for-one basis. There was no cost of issuing these units. 

  

    Fund Units 
  

    The Declaration of Trust provides that an unlimited number of Units and Special Voting Units may be issued. Each Unit is transferable 
and represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in any distributions of the Fund and in the net assets of the Fund. All Units have 
equal rights and privileges. Each unit entitles the holder thereof to participate equally in allocations and distributions and to one vote at all 
meetings of unitholders for each whole unit held. The Units issued are not subject to future calls or assessments. 

  

    Exchangeable LP Units 
  

    The Declaration of Trust provides that Special Voting Units are issued to represent voting rights in the Trust that accompany the 
Exchangeable LP Units. A Special Voting unit will be issued automatically upon the issue of an 
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    Exchangeable LP unit. When an Exchangeable Unit is exchanged into a Trust Unit, all voting rights associated with the Special Voting 
Unit shall terminate. 

  

    On June 5, 2006 the Partnership issued 2,000,000 Exchangeable LP Units as part of the purchase transaction described in note 4. An 
exchange of Exchangeable LP Units will be paid in Units on a one-for-one basis. Exchangeable LP Units carry the right to vote at any 
meeting that unitholders are entitled to vote on the same basis At June 30, 2007 the outstanding number of Exchangeable LP Units is 
2,278,898. 

  

    Employee Units 
  

    Consideration for the primary acquisition also included 654,034 units valued at $6,540 issued to certain employees and directors to 
replace existing deferred compensation arrangements. Of these units 270,276 were subject to forfeiture arrangements based upon 
continued employment with the Fund or its subsidiaries. 180,184 units vested as of June 2, 2007 and the remaining 90,092 units will vest 
on June 2, 2008 or upon a change in control (note 16). Accordingly, the value of such units are recorded as deferred compensation and 
deducted from consideration for the acquisition and will be recorded as amortization of deferred costs as the forfeiture provisions expire. 
During the three months ended June 30, 2007, amortization of deferred compensation costs was $225 (2006 — $300). 

  

7.   Non-controlling interest 
  

    Non-controlling interest at June 30, 2007 represents the outstanding Exchangeable LP Units issued to the previous owners of EDS 
Holdings Inc. and Seaforth by the Partnership. The Partnership initially issued 1,698,187 Exchangeable LP Units and upon execution of 
the over-allotment option, 1,108,505 Exchangeable LP Units were redeemed by the unitholders of EDS Holdings Inc. 

  

    On June 5, 2006 the Partnership issued 2,000,000 Exchangeable LP Units (note 4) to Seaforth at a price of $9.35 per unit, for total 
proceeds of $18,700. The issuance of these Exchangeable LP Units resulted in a dilution gain of $2,786. 

  

    An exchange of Exchangeable LP Units for Units will be on a one-for-one basis. Exchangeable LP Units carry the right to vote at any 
meeting that unitholders are entitled to vote on the same basis 

  

    At quarter end, non-controlling interest in the Fund amounted to 9.63% (2006 — 9.76%). Non-controlling units are not impacted by the 
newly enacted tax liability described in note 17. 

  

    The Fund declared to the Exchangeable LP unitholders the distributions as disclosed in note 8. 
  

8.   Cumulative distributions 
  

    Distributions are made monthly to unitholders of record on the last business day of each month and paid on the 15 th of the following 
month. Distributions to holders of Exchangeable LP Units are declared on the same basis. Distributions declared during the three months 
ended June 30, 2007 were $3,219 (2006 — $4,214) or $0.15 (2006 — $0.2562) per Unit. 

                                  
                            Distribution   
Period   Record Date   Payment Date   Per Unit $     Amount $   
January 1, 2007 to January 31, 2007    January 31, 2007   February 15, 2007     0.0500       1,074   
February 1, 2007 to February 28, 2007    February 28, 2007   March 15, 2007     0.0500       1,073   
March 1, 2007 to March 31, 2007    March 31, 2007   April 15, 2007     0.0500       1,073   
April 1, 2007 to April 30, 2007    April 30, 2007   May 15, 2007     0.0500       1,073   
May 1, 2007 to May 31, 2007    May 31, 2007   June 15, 2007     0.0500       1,073   
June 1, 2007 to June 30, 2007    June 30, 2007   July 15, 2007     0.0500       1,073   

    Distributions declared on exchangeable LP units during the three months ended June 30, 2007 were $342 (2006 — $246) or $0.15 (2006 
— $0.2562) per Unit. 
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    Distributions declared during the six months ended June 30, 2007 to non-controlling interests were as follows: 
                                  
                            Distribution   
Period   Record Date   Payment Date   Per Unit $     Amount $   
January 1, 2007 to January 31, 2007    January 31, 2007   February 15, 2007     0.0500       114   
February 1, 2007 to February 28, 2007    February 28, 2007   March 15, 2007     0.0500       114   
March 1, 2007 to March 31, 2007    March 31, 2007   April 15, 2007     0.0500       114   
April 1, 2007 to April 30, 2007    April 30, 2007   May 15, 2007     0.0500       114   
May 1, 2007 to May 31, 2007    May 31, 2007   June 15, 2007     0.0500       114   
June 1, 2007 to June 30, 2007    June 30, 2007   July 15, 2007     0.0500       114   

9.   Restructuring costs 
  

    During the first quarter, the Fund recorded restructuring charges relating to workforce reduction charges and severance benefits 
associated with the closure of the production facility located in Abbottsford, British Columbia. No additional accrual was recorded this 
quarter (2006 — $438). At June 30, 2007, an amount of $2,033 is included in accrued liabilities relating to these, and previously 
recorded, restructuring charges. 

  

10.   Other comprehensive income and accumulated other comprehensive loss 
                  
    June 30, 2007     December 31, 2006   
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, beginning of period    $ 2,572     $ 2,373   
Transition adjustment      349       —  
Change in foreign exchange contracts, net of income taxes      243       —  
Change interest rate swaps, net of income taxes      (392 )     —  
Allocation to minority interest      (19 )     —  
Change in cumulative translation adjustment      2,308       199   

  
     

  
    

  
  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss end of period    $ 5,061     $ 2,572   
  
     

  
    

  
  

11.   Net change in non-cash operating working capital balances 
                                  
    Three months     Three months     Six months     Six months   
    ended     ended     ended     ended   
    June 30, 2007     July 1, 2006     June 30, 2007     July 1, 2006   
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable    $ 422     $ (3,121 )   $ 1,189     $ 183   
Increase in inventories      (1,057 )     (1,159 )     (950 )     (4,529 ) 
Increase in prepaid expenses      (169 )     (273 )     (849 )     (474 ) 
Decrease (increase) in accounts payables and accrued liabilities      182       (88 )     4,636       (1,356 ) 
Decrase (increase) in income taxes recoverable      394       442       294       (3 ) 

    
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net change in non-cash operating working capital balances    $ (228 )   $ (4,199 )   $ 4,320     $ (6,179 ) 
    

    
  
    

  
    

  
  

12.   Related party transactions 
  

    On February 11, 2005, EDS Holdings Inc. acquired the business of North Coast Processing Group (North Coast). Payment of $1,000 
(US$) was made this quarter and up to an additional US$4.4 million is payable to the vendor over a three-year period, or upon a change in 
control (note 16), based on the achievement of certain financial results of the acquired business under the provisions of the amended 
promissory note. The original purchase price of North Coast has been adjusted to reflect this payment with an increase to goodwill. 
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13.   Financial instruments 
  

    Credit risk 
  

    At June 30, 2007, the Fund’s accounts receivable included one customer that represented more than 10% of the total accounts receivable 
balance. The customer’s outstanding balance represents 23% (2006 — 17%) of the total accounts receivable. This account is paid 
regularly within normal commercial terms. During the quarter ended June 30, 2007, this customer represented 23% (2006 — 24%) of 
total revenue. 

  

    Interest rate risk 
  

    The Fund is exposed to interest rate risk in the event of changes in the Canadian prime rate, U.S. base rate, LIBOR or bankers acceptance 
rate on the revolving credit facility. The Fund has entered into an interest rate swap contract with an approved creditworthy counterparty 
to manage current and anticipated exposure to interest rate risk through May 2, 2008 on $25,000 aggregate principal amount on the 
revolving credit facility. During 2006, the Fund entered into a second interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on an additional 
amount ranging from $28,000 to a maximum of $53,000 of the aggregate principal amount of the revolving facility at 6.50% per annum 
through to May 2009. 

  

    Foreign exchange risk 
  

    The Fund is exposed to Canadian/US$ currency fluctuations on cross-border transactions and on translation of the net investment in, and 
earnings of E. D. Smith, Inc., and E. D. Smith USA Inc. The Fund hedges the foreign currency exposure on anticipated US$ inventory 
purchases with derivatives that have a total notional amount of $10,482 over a 2 year period. On $3,201, the Fund is required to buy US$ 
(sell Canadian dollars) at US/Cdn $1.24 and on $873, the Fund is required to buy US$ (sell Canadian dollars) at US/Cdn $1.190 and on 
$1,167, the Fund is required to buy US$ (sell Canadian dollars) at US/Cdn $1.191. On the other half of the notional amount, the Fund has 
a call option to buy US$3,201 at US/Cdn. $1.24 and US$873 at US/Cdn $1.190 and US$1,167 at US/Cdn $1.191. The fair value of the 
foreign currency agreement as at June 30, 2007 represents an unrealized loss of $814. 

  

    A foreign currency loss of $236 (2006 — $379) from operations has been recorded during the period ended June 30, 2007. 
  

14.   Commitments 
  

    a.   Lease commitments 
  

    The Fund has entered into agreements to lease premises, equipment and computer hardware under operating lease agreements expiring at 
various dates to 2011. In aggregate, the commitments total $9,989. The future minimum rental payments for each of the next five years 
are as follows: 
          
2007      1,704   
2008      2,977   
2009      2,305   
2010      1,632   
2011      1,371   
     

  
  

     $ 9,989   
     

  
  

    b.   Commodity commitments 
  

    The Fund regularly commits to purchase commodities in advance in the normal course of business. Short-term letters of credit, which are 
not material in amount, are used from time to time in this process. At June 30, 2007 the Fund had aggregate purchase commitments of 
$38,010. 
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15.   Segmented information 
  

    During the period, the Fund operated one reportable segment: the manufacturing and marketing of fruit, sauce and oil based food 
products. The Fund has two geographic segments, Canada and United States. 

                                                  
            June 30, 2007                   July 1, 2006     
    Canada   United States   Total   Canada   United States   Total 
    $   $   $   $   $   $ 

REVENUE                                                  
Three months ended      45,773       34,059       79,832       33,830       22,361       56,191   
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
  

Six months ended      89,884       65,434       155,318       60,820       36,726       97,546   
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
  

                                                  
            June 30, 2007                   July 1, 2006     
    Canada   United States   Total   Canada   United States   Total 
    $   $   $   $   $   $ 

Assets      268,089       36,233       304,322       263,707       40,929       304,636   
Intangibles      84,331       7,020       91,351       88,521       8,160       96,681   
Goodwill      86,344       5,185       91,529       81,368       4,507       85,875   

    Revenue by geographic segment is determined based on country of destination. 
  

16.   Proposed Transaction with TreeHouse Foods, Inc. 
  

    On June 25, 2007, the Fund announced that it has entered into a definitive agreement (the “Agreement”) whereby TreeHouse Foods, Inc. 
(“TreeHouse”) will acquire substantially all of the assets of the Fund, consisting of all of the outstanding shares of E.D. Smith & Sons, 
Limited (“EDSS”), all of the outstanding shares of E.D. Smith & Sons GP Ltd., certain indebtedness of E.D. Smith & Sons, Limited and 
all of the LP units of E.D. Smith LP. Under the agreement, TreeHouse will acquire the assets of the Fund for approximately $217 million 
in addition to the assumption of existing debt and transaction costs (the “Offer”). This transaction is anticipated to allow the unitholders 
of the Fund to receive up to $9.15 per unit subject to a holdback of $0.60 per unit to cover certain contingencies associated with a 
potential tax liability, expenses and wind up costs. The potential liability in respect of these tax related contingent liabilities may, in 
certain circumstances, exceed the $0.60 per unit holdback that the Fund announced would be established on the completion of the 
transaction with the Purchaser. The Fund has estimated, on the basis of information available to it that the additional liability could be in 
the range of $0.15 to $0.20 per unit. If this additional liability arises, the proceeds from the sale would be used to pay these liabilities. The 
proceeds, net of the potential tax liabilities, expenses and wind-up costs, would be used to provide for the redemption of Units by the 
Fund. The Fund’s Trustees, following the recommendation of its advisors, unanimously approved the transaction. 

  

    Certain aspects of the transactions completed concurrently with the Fund’s IPO were structured in a manner that may have created an 
unintended potential tax liability. The Fund believes that this was inadvertent and the Partnership has applied to the Ontario Superior 
Court of Justice (the “Court”) for an order rectifying the documentation associated with these transactions to correctly reflect the intention 
of the parties to the transactions which, in turn, would eliminate the possibility of these unintended tax consequences (the “Request”). A 
hearing relating to the Request has been scheduled for August 24, 2007. The Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) has been notified of the 
hearing and the Request. The CRA may not fully support the Request. Discussions with the CRA to determine its position on the Request 
are ongoing. The decision to accept or reject the Request by the Court is indeterminable as at the date of these interim consolidated 
financial statements. 

  

    Completion of the Offer is subject to certain customary conditions, including, among other things, there being validly deposited under the 
Offer and not withdrawn, that number of units that constitutes at least 66 2/3% of the issued and outstanding units of the Fund (calculated 
on a fully diluted basis). A special meeting of the unitholders to approve the terms of the agreement has been set for September 27, 2007 
and the transaction is anticipated to close during October of 2007. 
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    The Agreement also provides for, among other things, a “no-shop” restriction on the part of the Fund. In certain circumstances, the Fund 
may terminate the Agreement or withdraw its recommendation to unitholders to accept the Offer. In this event, the Fund would be 
required to pay an $8 million termination fee to Treehouse. 

  

17.   Income Taxes 
  

    On June 12, 2007 the proposed “tax fairness” legislation on publicly traded Income Trusts received third reading in the House of 
Commons and is considered “substantively enacted”. Effective January 1, 2011, the Fund will be required to pay tax at the rate of 31.5% 
on distributions to unitholders resulting in the unitholder receiving 68.5% of distributions declared. The unitholder will receive the 
equivalent of a dividend tax credit for the amount of the distribution paid by the fund. Currently, the Fund does not pay income tax 
provided distributions to unitholders exceed the amount of the Fund’s income that would otherwise be taxable. 

  

    The passing of the legislation requires the Fund to record future taxes on all temporary timing differences present at the time of 
substantive enactment. The amount of the future taxes recognized is based on the expected timing for reversal of the tax differences. 
Timing differences reversing before January 1, 2011 are taxed at a nil rate, while timing differences reversing after January 1, 2011 are 
taxed at a rate of 31.5%. The impact of the substantive enactment of the tax legislation is a non-cash income tax expense of $9,123 in the 
second quarter. 

  

18.   Comparative consolidated financial statements 
  

    The comparative consolidated financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously presented to conform to the 
presentation of the 2007 consolidated financial statements 

  

19.   Differences between Canadian and United States of America Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
  

    The consolidated financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
Canada (“Canadian GAAP”) which in most respects, conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(“U.S. GAAP”). The significant differences as they apply to the Fund are shown below. All amounts are in thousands (unless otherwise 
noted) and in Canadian Dollars. Where applicable, the tax rate applied to the adjustments is 34.48% 

  

    Consolidated statements of earnings in accordance with U.S. GAAP are as follows: 
                  
    Six months     Six months   
    ended     ended   
    June 30, 2007     June 30, 2006   
(Loss) Earnings — Canadian GAAP    $ (7,848 )   $ 6,097   
  
Dilution gain adjustment (b)      —      (2,688 ) 
     

  
    

  
  

(Loss) Earnings — U.S. GAAP    $ (7,848 )   $ 3,409   
     

  

    

  

  

                   
Earnings per Fund Unit                  

Basic    $ (0.37 )   $ 0.23   
Diluted    $ (0.37 )   $ 0.22   

                   
Weighted average units outstanding                  

Basic (actual, not in thousands)      21,222,757       14,701,224   
Diluted (actual, not in thousands)      21,222,757       15,541,155   



   

     Consolidated balance sheets in accordance with U.S. GAAP are as follows:  
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    CDN GAAP     U.S. GAAP     CDN GAAP     U.S. GAAP   
    At June     At June     At December     At December   
    30, 2007     30, 2007     31, 2006     31, 2006   
ASSETS                                  
Current Assets                                  
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 2,280     $ 2,280     $ 1,334     $ 1,334   
Accounts receivable — trade      22,089       22,089       23,718       23,718   
Inventories      43,200       43,200       42,872       42,872   
Prepaid expenses      1,979       1,979       1,133       1,133   
Derivative financial instruments      253       253       —      —  
Income taxes recoverable      47       47       339       339   
Future income taxes (c)      762       762       976       1,253   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total current assets      70,610       70,610       70,372       70,649   
                                   
Capital assets, net      50,195       50,195       50,754       50,754   
Deferred cost, net (g)      373       677       954       954   
Derivative financial instruments (c)      264       264       —      210   
Intangible assets      91,351       91,351       96,681       96,681   
Goodwill (b,d)      91,529       91,299       85,875       82,957   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total Assets      304,322     $ 304,396     $ 304,636     $ 302,205   
                                   
LIABILITIES AND UNITHOLDERS ’ EQUITY                                  
Current liabilities                                  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    $ 26,009     $ 26,009     $ 22,293     $ 22,293   
Deferred income      438       438       —      —  
Purchase price payable      —      —      18,494       18,494   
Distributions payable to unitholders      1,073       1,073       1,073       1,073   
Distributions payable to exchangeable LP unitholders      114       114       115       115   
Derivative financial instruments (c)      820       820       —      740   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total current liabilities      28,454       28,454       41,975       42,715   
                                   
Bank credit facility (g)      97,803       98,107       75,466       75,466   
Deferred income      1,870       1,870       —      —  
Future Income taxes (c)      17,165       17,165       11,079       11,174   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total liabilities      145,292       145,596       128,520       129,355   
                                   
Non-controlling interest (e)      16,199       16,158       17,101       17,060   
Temporary Equity (a)      —      152,582       —      101,719   
                                   
Unitholders’  equity                                  
Trust units issued (a)      179,172       —      178,580       —  
Deficit (a,d)      (31,280 )     (4,920 )     (16,993 )     56,950   
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (c,e)      (5,061 )     (5,020 )     (2,572 )     (2,879 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total unitholders’  equity      142,831       (9,940 )     159,015       54,071   
                                   
Total liabilities and unitholders’ equity    $ 304,322     $ 304,396     $ 304,636     $ 302,205   
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a.   Unitholders’  Equity 
  

    Under adoption of EITF D-98 “Classification and Measurement of Redeemable Securities”, the Fund records the redemption value of all 
outstanding Trust units as temporary equity on the consolidated balance sheets. The amount included for Unitholders’ Equity is reduced 
by an amount equal to the redemption value of the Trust units as at the balance sheet date. The redemption value of the Trust units is 
determined with respect to the trading value of the Fund, and the amount of the redemption value is classified as temporary equity. Under 
Canadian GAAP, all Trust units are classified as Unitholders’ Equity. At June 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the Fund has classified 
$152,582 and $101,719 respectively, as temporary equity in accordance with U.S. GAAP, after adjusting the amount to the redemption 
value. 

  

    As of and for the six months ended June 30, 2007 and 2006, the Trust units were reduced to the redemption value by $26,590 and 
$28,225, respectively, with the offset being recorded through Unitholders’ Equity. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Trust units 
were reduced by $76,861. Upon adjustment to the redemption value, the unitholder value was reclassified as temporary equity. 

  

b.   Dilution Gain 
  

    In 2006 the Fund recorded a dilution gain upon the issuance of a subsidiary’s securities (Exchangeable Units) in connection with a 
purchase of a business. For Canadian GAAP purposes, the Exchangeable Units were measured using the average price 2 days before and 
after April 20, 2006. For U.S. GAAP purposes, the exchangeable units were measured as of the consummation date, June 3, 2006. By 
measuring the Exchangeable Units at the consummation date, the dilution gain was reduced by $2,688 to $98 under U.S. GAAP. 

  

c.   Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments 
  

    Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities” (“SFAS133”), as modified by SFAS No. 138 “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging 
Activities”, establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument be recorded in the balance sheet as 
either an asset or liability measured at its fair value, and that change in the fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific 
hedge accounting criteria are met. This statement requires an entity to establish, at the inception of a hedge, the method it will use for 
assessing the effectiveness of the hedging derivative and the measurement approach for determining the ineffective aspects of the hedge. 
Those methods must be consistent with the entity’s approach to managing risk. 

  

    For Canadian GAAP purposes the Fund identified its derivative financial instruments as cash flow hedges, which include interest rate 
swap agreements and hedges of foreign currency fluctuations. The interest rate agreements adjust the variable rate debt to fixed rate debt. 
The foreign currency hedges were put in place due to the exposure to Canadian/US Dollar currency fluctuations on cross border 
transactions. 

  

    Effective January 1, 2007, the Fund adopted CICA Section 3855 — Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement, 
Section 3865 — Hedges, and Section 1530 — Comprehensive Income . This effectively eliminates U.S. GAAP differences for periods 
after January 1, 2007. 
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    The following adjustments were made to reconcile the Canadian GAAP to U.S. GAAP: 
                  
    At June   At December 
    30, 2007*   31, 2006 
Derivative asset increase    $ —    $ 210   
Derivative liability — increase      —      740   
Other comprehensive loss      —      (348 ) 
Increase to future income tax asset      —      277   
Increase to future income tax liability      —      95   

  

*   CICA Sections 3855, 3865, and 1530 were adopted January 1, 2007, and therefore no difference exists. 
                  
    Six months   Six months 
    ended June   ended June 
    30, 2007   30, 2006 
Other comprehensive loss    $ —    $ (190 ) 

d.   Tax credit adjustment 
  

    For purposes of Canadian GAAP, the Fund recognized previously unrecognized income tax credit carry-forwards ($230) of an acquired 
entity through the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Deficit, net of tax in fiscal 2005. However, under U.S. GAAP, subsequent 
realization of previously unrecognized tax benefits of an acquired entity would first be applied to goodwill arising on the purchase, then 
to intangibles and finally to earnings. The required adjustment at June 30, 2007 and December 31, 2005 is listed below. There is no 
impact on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the six months ended June 30, 2007 and 2006. 

  

    The following adjustments were made to reconcile Canadian GAAP to U.S. GAAP: 
                  
    At June   At December 
    30, 2007   31, 2006 
Decrease in goodwill    $ 230     $ 230   
Increase in deficit      230       230   

e.   Comprehensive income (loss) 
  

    The Fund provided a Comprehensive income statement for the six months ended June 30, 2007. On January 1, 2007, the Fund adopted 
CICA 3855, 3865, and 1530, which is equivalent to the U.S. GAAP method of accounting for derivative instruments. Comprehensive 
income for the six months ended June 30, 2007 and 2006 are as follows: 

  

    Comprehensive income for the six months ended June 30, 2007 and 2006 is as follows: 
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    Six months     Six months   
    ended June     ended June   
    30, 2007     30, 2006   
(Loss) earnings — U.S. GAAP    $ (7,848 )   $ 3,409   

Change in foreign exchange contracts, net of tax      (243 )     (505 ) 
Change in interest rate swaps, net of tax      392       315   
Minority interest      19       18   
Change in cumulative translation adjustment      (2,308 )     (1,294 ) 

     
  
    

  
  

Total comprehensive income    $ (9,988 )   $ 1,943   
     

  

    

  

  

f.   Financial statement subtotals 
  

    The Fund presents funds from operations before changes in non-cash working capital as a subtotal in the consolidated statement of cash 
flows. This line item would not be presented in a cash flow statement prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

  

    The Fund presents earnings before interest, income taxes, amortization, non-controlling interest, and dilution gain. This line item would 
not be presented in a consolidated statement of earnings and deficit prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

  

g.   Deferred debt issue costs 
  

    For Canadian GAAP reporting purposes, as a result of the adoption of CICA 3855, the Fund netted its debt issue costs with debt on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet at June 30, 2007. For U.S. GAAP reporting purposes, debt issue costs (totaling $304 thousand) were 
reclassified as deferred costs at June 30, 2007. The result was an increase to debt and deferred costs of the same amount. This adjustment 
does not impact other periods or the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Deficit. 

  

h.   Recent U.S. Accounting Standards 
  

    In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157 “Fair Value Measurement,” which defines fair value, establishes a framework for 
measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS 157 are effective for fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2007. The Fund is currently evaluating the impact SFAS 157 will have on its financial statements. 

  

    In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an 
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 , which permits measurement of financial instruments and other certain items at fair value. SFAS 
No. 159 does not require any new fair value measurements. SFAS No. 159 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2007. Early adoption is permitted provided that SFAS No. 157 is concurrently adopted. The Fund is 
currently evaluating the impact SFAS No. 159 will have on its financial statements. 



   



   

Exhibit 99.3 

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information  

On October 15, 2007, TreeHouse Foods, Inc. (“TreeHouse”) completed its acquisition of all the operating assets of the E.D. Smith Income 
Fund (“ED Smith”) and related liabilities. Immediately following the completion of the acquisition, E.D. Smith became a division of 
TreeHouse’s operating subsidiary, Bay Valley Foods, LLC.  

The purchase price paid for ED Smith by TreeHouse was approximately $340 million at October 15, 2007, based on the exchange rate of 
$1.01963 U.S. Dollars for each Canadian dollar at October  10, 2007, (the date TreeHouse purchased Canadian dollars to complete the 
purchase), including the payment of existing debt, and transaction expenses. The all cash acquisition was financed through borrowings under 
TreeHouse’s existing $600 million credit facility.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been prepared using the purchase method of accounting in accordance 
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations (SFAS 141). Under the purchase method of accounting, 
the total estimated purchase price is allocated to the net tangible and intangible identifiable assets and liabilities based on their estimated 
relative fair values. TreeHouse management has made a preliminary allocation to the net tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed based on preliminary estimates. A valuation analysis was used to establish the fair value of the ED Smith inventory, real estate, 
machinery and equipment and the fair value of identifiable intangible assets. At the date of this filing, the valuation is not yet complete. As a 
result of the final valuations, values and useful lives assigned to these assets could change. Management is also assessing certain liabilities 
assumed in the transaction.  

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet has been prepared to give effect to the acquisition as of June 30, 2007, 
and is based on the assumptions and adjustments described in the accompanying notes. The ED Smith consolidated balance sheet included in 
the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements is as of June 30, 2007.  

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined income statements are based on TreeHouse’s year ended December 31, 2006 and the 
six months ended June 30, 2007 and have been prepared to give effect to the completed acquisition as of January 1, 2006, the beginning of 
TreeHouse’s most recently completed fiscal year. The income statements are based on the assumptions and adjustments described in the 
accompanying notes and are not indicative of what the actual results would have been had the acquisition been completed on a different date 
nor do they purport to indicate the results of future operations. The ED Smith consolidated statements of income included in the unaudited pro 
forma condensed combined financial statements are based on the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2006 and the six-month period 
ended June 30, 2007.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of income do not include the impacts of any revenue, cost or other synergies that 
may result from the acquisition or any related restructuring costs. Cost savings, if achieved, could result from, among other things, material 
sourcing and elimination of redundant costs, including headcount and facilities. In addition, there may be restructuring and other exit costs and 
non-recurring costs related to the integration of ED Smith. The purchase price includes management’s estimate of costs for plant and process 
rationalization and headcount reductions, which are recognized in the opening balance sheet in accordance with EITF 95-3.  

   



   

Based on TreeHouse’s review of ED Smith’s summary of significant accounting policies disclosed in ED Smith’s historical financial data, the 
nature and amount of any adjustments to the historical financial data of ED Smith to conform their accounting policies to those of TreeHouse 
are not expected to be significant. Further review of ED Smith’s accounting policies and financial statements may result in revisions to ED 
Smith’s policies and classifications to conform them to TreeHouse’s accounting policies.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet and unaudited pro forma condensed combined income statements should be read 
in conjunction with TreeHouse’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on February 27, 2007 and TreeHouse Foods, Inc interim financial statements on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 
2007 and June 30, 2007. and ED Smith consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006 and for the period June 3, 2005 
to December 31, 2005 and the consolidated financial statements for the three and six month interim periods ended June 30, 2007 and June 30, 
2006, included herein as Exhibit 99.1.  
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TreeHouse Foods, Inc.  
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet  

as of June 30, 2007  
(in thousands)  

Note 1. Pro forma adjustments  

The following pro forma adjustments are based on management’s preliminary estimates of the values of the tangible and intangible assets 
acquired and are subject to change.  

Note 2. Purchase price allocation  

The preliminary purchase price allocation and useful lives related to the acquired business are as follows:  

                                                  
            Canadian GAAP                                 
    As Reported     E.D. Smith                             Pro Forma   
    TreeHouse Foods, Inc.     Income Fund     Pro Forma             U.S. GAAP     TreeHouse Foods, Inc.   
    June 30, 2007     June 30, 2007*     Adjustments             Adjustments**     June 30, 2007   
Total current assets    $ 283,334     $ 66,211     $ 1,990       2     $ —          
                       (715 )     1                   
                       814       3             $ 351,634   
Property, plant and equipment, net      213,499       47,068       (4,142 )     4       —      256,425   
Goodwill      432,430       85,827       (85,826 )     1       —          
                       150,599       5               583,030   
Identifiable intangible assets and other 

assets, net      86,706       86,257       (85,660 )     1       —          
                       107,854       5               195,157   
     

  
    

  
    

  
            

  
    

  
  

Total assets      1,015,969       285,363       84,914             $ —      1,386,246   
     

  

    

  

    

  

            

  

    

  

  

                                                   
Total current liabilities      96,697       26,681       13,855       7       —      137,233   
Long-term debt      284,413       91,710       (91,710 )     1       —          
                       312,573       7               596,986   
Deferred income taxes      7,683       16,096       (16,096 )     1       —          
                       15,076       3               22,759   
Other non-current liabilities      27,120       1,753       339       6       —      29,212   
Non-controlling interest      —      15,190       (15,190 )     1       —      —  
Total stockholder’s equity      600,056       133,933       (133,933 )     1       —      600,056   
     

  
    

  
    

  
            

  
    

  
  

Total liabilities and stockholder’s equity    $ 1,015,969     $ 285,363     $ 84,914             $ —    $ 1,386,246   
     

  

    

  

    

  

            

  

    

  

  

  

*   Translated from Canadian dollars at June 30, 2007, using the conversion rate on June 30, 2007 of $1 CAD = $0.9377 USD.  
  

**   none 

  
1.   To eliminate the historical deferred taxes, goodwill, identifiable intangible assets, debt, equity and non-controlling interests related to the 

acquired E.D. Smith Income Fund business. 
  

2.   To record the impact of preliminary purchase accounting adjustments as required by FASB Statement 141 — finished goods inventory 
increase to fair value. 

  

3.   To record the impact of preliminary purchase accounting adjustments as required by FASB Statement 141 — deferred income tax 
adjustments. 

  

4.   To record the impact of preliminary purchase accounting adjustments as required by FASB Statement 141 — property, plant and 
equipment decrease to fair value ($1,999) and record reserves related to exit activities ($2,143) 

  

5.   To record the impact of preliminary purchase accounting adjustments as required by FASB Statement 141 — record to goodwill and 
identifiable intangible assets. 

  

6.   To record the impact of preliminary purchase accounting adjustments as required by FASB Statement 141 — supply agreement fair value 
adjustment, increase in liability. 

  

7.   To record acquisition related debt used to purchase the E.D. Smith Income Fund business and pay transaction related costs and record 
accrued exit costs ($13,855). 

          
Cash paid for business *    $ 203,722   
Debt Assumed *      97,146   
Estimated acquisition related costs *      11,705   
     

  
  

Total cash paid    $ 312,573   
     

  

  

                  
            Preliminary   
    Preliminary Purchase     Estimated   
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Description   Price Allocation     Useful Lives   
Inventory    $ 42,499           
Other current assets      25,802           
Property, plant and equipment      42,926       1 to 24 years   
Trade names      26,424     Indefinite 
Customer lists      79,770     10-15 years 
Recipes and other      2,257     8 months to 5 years 
Goodwill      150,599     Indefinite 
     

  
          

Total assets acquired      370,277           
                   
Current liabilities      (26,681 )         
Accrued Exit Costs      (13,855 )         
Other long-term liabilities      (2,092 )         
Deferred taxes      (15,076 )         
     

  
          

Total liabilities acquired      (57,704 )         
     

  
          

  
Net asset acquired    $ 312,573           
     

  

          



   

TreeHouse Foods, Inc.  
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Income Statement  

for the Year Ended December 31, 2006  
(in thousands, except per share data)  

Note 1. Pro Forma Adjustments  

The following pro forma adjustments are based on management’s preliminary estimates of the values of the tangible and intangible assets 
acquired and are subject to change.  

1. Net reduction in depreciation and amortization expense based on fair value adjustments, and elimination of public company costs. The 
details of the adjustment are listed below.  

2. Net increase in other expenses  

3 To tax effect adjustments at 39%.  

4 To adjust the dilution gain in accordance with U.S. GAAP  
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            Canadian GAAP                                         
    As Reported     E.D. Smith                                     Pro Forma   
    TreeHouse Foods, Inc.     Income Fund                     U.S.             TreeHouse Foods, Inc.   
    Year Ended     Year Ended     Pro Forma             GAAP             Year Ended   
    December 31, 2006     December 31, 2006*     Adjustments             Adjustments             December 31, 2006   
Net Sales    $ 939,396     $ 216,414                     $ —            $ 1,155,810   
Cost of Sales      738,818       174,823       —              —              913,641   
     

  
    

  
    

  
            

  
            

  
  

Gross Profit      200,578       41,591       —              —              242,169   
Operating expenses      116,224       38,191       812       1       —              155,227   
     

  
    

  
    

  
            

  
            

  
  

Operating Income      84,354       3,400       (812 )             —              86,942   
Other expense      12,320       1,468       15,415       2       2,371       4       31,574   
     

  
    

  
    

  
            

  
            

  
  

Income from continuing 
operations before income taxes     72,034       1,932       (16,227 )             (2,371 )             55,368   

Provision for income taxes      27,333       (2,751 )     (6,329 )     3       —              18,253   
     

  
    

  
    

  
            

  
            

  
  

Income (loss) from continuing 
operations    $ 44,701     $ 4,683     $ (9,898 )           $ (2,371 )           $ 37,115   

     

  

    

  

    

  

            

  

            

  

  

                                                           
Weighted average common shares      31,158                                               31,158   

Basic      31,396                                               31,396   
Diluted      1.43                                               1.19   

Basic earnings per share      1.42                                               1.18   
Diluted earnings per share                                                          

  

*   Translated from Canadian dollars using the average rate for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 of $1 CAD = $0.88206 USD. 

          
Depreciation expense on revalued assets    $ 4,978   
To eliminate previously recorded depreciation      (3,929 ) 
Amortization expense on identifiable intangible assets      7,265   
To eliminate previously recorded identifiable asset amortization      (6,069 ) 
To eliminate previously recorded public company costs      (1,124 ) 
To eliminate previously recorded debt issue cost amortization      (309 ) 
     

  
  

     $ 812   
     

  

  

          
To record interest expense on debt incurred to acquire E.D. Smith Income          
Fund at the current rate of 5.5275%    $ 18,788   
To eliminate previously recorded interest expense      (3,778 ) 
To eliminate previously recorded non-controlling interest expense      (147 ) 
To eliminate previously recorded exchange gain on debt extinguishment      552   
     

  
  

     $ 15,415   
     

  

  



   

TreeHouse Foods, Inc.  
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Income Statement  

for the Six Months ended June 30, 2007  
(in thousands, except per share data)  

Note 1. Pro Forma Adjustments  

The following pro forma adjustments are based on management’s preliminary estimates of the values of the tangible and intangible assets 
acquired and are subject to change.  

1. Net reduction in depreciation and amortization expense based on fair value adjustments, and elimination of public company costs. The 
details of the adjustment are listed below.  

2. Net increase in other expenses  

3 To tax effect adjustments at 39%.  
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            Canadian GAAP                                 
    As Reported     E.D. Smith                             Pro Forma   
    TreeHouse Foods, Inc.     Income Fund                             TreeHouse Foods, Inc.   
    Six Months Ended     Six Months Ended     Pro Forma             U.S. GAAP     Six Months Ended   
    June 30, 2007     June 30, 2007 *     Adjustments             Adjustments**     June 30, 2007   
Net Sales    $ 515,015     $ 136,989                             $ 652,004   
Cost of Sales      409,319       115,325       —              —      524,644   
     

  
    

  
    

  
            

  
    

  
  

Gross Profit      105,696       21,664       —              —      127,360   
Operating expenses      70,570       19,558       (1,478 )     1       —      88,650   
     

  
    

  
    

  
            

  
    

  
  

Operating Income      35,126       2,106       1,478               —      38,710   
Other expense      7,801       3,186       6,366       2       —      17,353   
     

  
    

  
    

  
            

  
    

  
  

Income from continuing operations 
before income taxes      27,325       (1,080 )     (4,888 )             —      21,357   

Provision for income taxes      10,519       5,841       (1,906 )     3       —      14,454   
     

  
    

  
    

  
            

  
    

  
  

Income (loss) from continuing 
operations    $ 16,806     $ (6,921 )   $ (2,982 )           $ —    $ 6,903   

     

  

    

  

    

  

            

  

    

  

  

                                                   
Weighted average common shares      31,202                                       31,202   

Basic      31,305                                       31,305   
Diluted      0.54                                       0.22   

Basic earnings per share      0.54                                       0.22   
Diluted earnings per share                                                  

  

*   Translated from Canadian dollars using the average rate for the six months ended June 30, 2007 of $1 CAD = $0.88199 USD.  
  

**   none 

          
Depreciation expense on revalued assets    $ 2,292   
To eliminate previously recorded depreciation      (2,551 ) 
Amortization expense on identifiable intangible assets      3,444   
To eliminate previously recorded identifiable asset amortization      (4,110 ) 
To eliminate previously recorded public company costs      (395 ) 
To eliminate previously recorded debt issue cost amortization      (158 ) 
     

  
  

     $ (1,478 ) 
     

  

  

          
To record interest expense on debt incurred to acquire E.D. Smith          
Income Fund at the current rate of 5.5275%    $ 9,394   
To eliminate previously recorded interest expense      (2,909 ) 
To eliminate previously recorded non-controlling interest expense      (119 ) 
     

  
  

     $ 6,366   
     

  

  


